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< faea Afaams s
(s TR Tasr S Si eI 9 g SR ST=er 91 @)
srfer=T

ST, 1 AT, 2023

. SSAH -0/ a1/2023/13.—Fa=ra srferfa=, 2003 (2003 FT sTfaf=w d&aT 36) (39 a1%
srfafaaa’ & =7 § gafea) @t amer 36, aTr 39, & 40, oTRT 41, 97T 51, €T 61, €T 62, &TRT 63,
YT 64, 91T 65 3T 41T 86 F AT Trod gr 181 Fil IT-GTT (2) 3T TH e § TH TAH Hid ATeAT
e AT oTfRAT TRT W& IRRAT T TFET Fd g, g ATHT TS STH-FH9HT T i o7 9T Fard
& forw w3n =g RfAamees s 2o g et fafqas e 2

AT 1: IF

1. ofer ofrds, aiw sk A

1.1, == afFaet & w1 Fee R o, s ared Teo S o7 FeHIT T g oarted g9
LG (Fgad T IATEd, Tu, fEawer e & e & fow Faw & o), AT, 20237 F=r
ST

1.2. I A= et Toa= § I TH1 6f [qrer & AR g0 &7 31 A1, 2026 TF AN T, Sa
T T srearer e/ 7 G s

1.3. ¥ AT\ T F3 oTfaa Teer STFE-FeHiT 3T g ATHT o9 T2 9 A0 21d gl
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2.

2.1.

1.

9.

IR Yy
== faff=rat 9, st a& 3 g2t 7 st srufera = 8

" FAEr T erf e farfir ad o for, st ofte, @ sl e fareor, A s faamor s Srenfeen o
et T RTE F aerEerSeR e e feaforria R .

Frd Toh TarsTet o Taaeor & =qaema & S et ot T STfeeaoT  ATHe §, @i eaeor &
o FUT IfeAted aeqstt & grm, fovg TR T ITTEsReor 9% ] YTeir stferf==rst a7 st
% SATHTT JIATT AT FATT T@T ST,

"grferfRa” 7 sref AuE-THe a7 enter e srterfaa, 2003 (2003 #T 36) A,

‘T TSTET AEAAHAT AT "TALAR" FT AT ATUH Toed A@eTHhal gl forad =9 Ff===t 5
ATET, AN g RaiRa oRE i el F A1 § awqell & o Icames o, qrwer
ATSHALTL, AT AT AT | Haferd T 247 ST Il 9% e a1 g,

“Sree faaur” wos o< ad & forw, e arsdwery & fFaer ar s3a@ T siv gaeT srgfd
AT F A= (AT 47 eed g Heihd et off T, anma, o, 334T, sete a7
T TS 6t AT S arar v feawor grm;

"I ITRWOT &HAT" FT FF qraT=T TRt | 27 T T YurTelt 9% drEwTierd STHEhT
T HeAH FATT F ITARKT F [{FU 0 Iore [y &g ofie Mm% &g (Hget) # &=
ATATe # faSelt gEaraeer R T SIHeAich "ITuur 8T T sfded” & 72 qaqar a7
ST,

“TETIH STt @I " AT " HEF " FT A g AL T & A | AT Aty F Hqg H,
ST ¥29F & Hg@® STHLUT FT @Ud #hl T2 oAl sl JET, 96 o i &2oF eliw
TR % Ra=are afga @3 o7 7efiadt % 9979 % 3297 ¥ IUART 6T ST aTer ITHT|
STAXTET T2 & A2 g ATl THAT, STALSHT FET il AT THISAT 6 AT HAAl 9T Jeasl
TFHA FoofT o AR o T F & F 7 0 STl &

T o TRTIF FofT @IT H FTSERT HIAMT S STALICIT T IT 37 Faemen  forg f@asreft it
AT o [oIT @A T T2 FoT S TALT T2 92 AT w11 & forw @aa & 12 &St e
SEUECILIE

"ATEATH" FT AT UF ICATEA FHAAT, TR ATSHAT, T FEraqwor Arsaeemy g S sfafaae
T =7 AT & ATE T TTed ATITFHAT SAI¥ S F [eieor & o saee &y § o |
U IATE T, IO ATSHATL, AT Foraqeor Arsaaemr onfie ge et &R® sramT g
T WA o AT 9¥ At Frar s @ g;

‘STgI HT & THHT T ag &7 R orEeh Sae U faaer arsaaem<y st it srqfd F2 &
oI s AT e T At €

"STTSrEROT " THET T Srterfea iy ey 70 § i<y T e wteeor grm;

10. Foreft [Rfera srater & foro oo yorrefy 3 Heyr | "Suersear” T 12 39 Aafe F IO Hel § 7960

BN STF I YTt QU 70 (afer § §F "ei & Ta9q H§ A A9 <2 qlees U2 fasret
TATRT FA § T ;

11." §fF T &1 o1 AT RHd S g7 q9-9097 9¢ q0d 5% 3¢ F gA;
12. " Fu" 7 o AT srafer 3 g A | i qgel 7 a9 gR A =9 ARt F w6

o
ile SHLAHE Tend T STTUATT

13. " e arRwT gHstar #7 o v Aearfad qwstar g e F FEe & od etaer gt

S T8d UF Il YIS STARTERAT T ATSHAIT  SaT-Fee U0 SUTAT a6 Tgae &l
TFE &,
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14, "HA & qEra” F1 q Fetertad § & fet ot =wear v ateq g o

F) et AU AT FA F ATARI T FLAT, AR FAT, T TATAT FLAT: IT

) et AT HISET AT FIA Al SO, Hed w1, Tearad HeAr, Heed e a1 =
srterfaa e A 4T

T)  FAT TATITAR, ATATIAFH, TT AT ALRTT TG FIT el T AT I ol AT
IT AeEA § qREdd, ST UHT SATEAT AT 3Taad & (o0 FIA % dgd SAad STreeey g; a7

q)  ARATSET % Torg et off agafa 31 |5t 37 STHIe, JT Suese AT TTH ATSHH i TRl o
o7 ey § et geaw Femfae arfarr gy afede: o

T) WA LR S T o 99 "9 & ot T et ar aguefiy awata/atE w ang
FAT AT IR Feara w1, e =9 AfFawt & qga Ffaatag somes =2om a7 o
TUTTEAT 9% AT &,

15. " AT AT "L & oot srfafRey f gy 76 i v (1) § [ Fy e
EIRRIEERE DIn AR

16. "SAET" T 7o sTfArfeae it aeT 83 W Hafq g Arfaa Teer ST 3fT Fewi¥ oY % aTfea Jaer
T o forw w3 g Rt s g,

17. "FRE=r et " T o 1 e, 2024 31 7T, 2026 T ar (2) At aut fi safer g,

18. "dee SaTHe Jrefordt” AT "HErg” &T o1 ot ot aeahrt Fuet & gR 5 Fx aeare sfafaas
T &7 38 T IT-8TXT (1) & Tgd ATAH =T FL Tl @,

19. "Fe-31h At &1 o1 gt F arforfsas d=rem & av & &7 (2) aul & 978 q979= a9 &7 31
HTH g, 3T IfS TRATSHET &l a9 HT ffaw TATer § arforsas =9rae & qga =iud a1 srar
2, A1 Fe-31r fafer arforfSas @=ree & a9 & o (3) F97 * 78 9% g1+ aret a9 &t 31 7T A

T Toh "Fe-AT [AT" T SART GRT A&7 ST GhdT g A1 FEqrasil 9187 6 A 9¢ Tg qrad
g1 SI1aT g T IR 99U & REa0r § 9 w0 | we-atw At & fiaw geiewer qgt
SLESEIN

20. "ITHIHT" a7 ATh R o Rt ATSEaa™r a7 93w g A7 39 AT IT a7 3T 997 dR]
FReT o= T o qaa STar &t fastett fd & Sa|r § o et o= A6 g7 99 START 6
orT forsTett T g 7 ST g 3T T8H Fis | oAi<h omiHe g ot afaw fhegrer arsHeem,
EAHTL AT UH (T AE & FAT & (AT T FA 6 3297 F T g0 &, AT Tg ST & Hla¥
U ITTTHTAT T g HITHT T,

21, "SASTerT SHAT" T 37 T TOTEAT STANRAT FIT AT (eI FATATE | &THAT H g,
22."f&" FT 312 00.00 T &= I ATAT 3 24.00 &7 HHIH I aTAT [ g,

23, "qrfurSge G=TA it [t JT "HISSr" FT o2 IO JUTAT F ATHA H I ATSHHLTE g
00.00 =<t & =rferg fafer grfY, foraer fore arewor yoreft 1 v qoa fasret sfi 9= e 9= &
TTH %A AT GIT T HAT Hed o (70 ARl TEAV HATAT o 918 HAHT 9aT § 8

FIIA T3 STRT ITET0T AT AT Faeeerd T ey Ieares oM 7 fosrett i A & forw aafda
g, dgT ICATET HIAT 3T T ATSHALT STGT a%F AT g, ScaTad L9 3T 0T JUTeAT &l
T AT AT FLA T TATH F ST I HA 7T THATT 6 HIETH T TH AT He:

Ford f afy arewr yoreft v S R qo F arwer ArETyT AT 36w Argiiwdt ar SHE
SHATL o TorT ForeRaTe A1 afed Hafad ScaTad €A & AT g § <41 o F1E0 FI g a1 7 a1
AT AT STIAE qTLTOT YUITSAT T AT FEA | LT ST g, T ATSHHLTE TF Gy
TUITSAT AT I Tohell e o ATTOTSAF AT i fafr F e & o7 us U< Aead &
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TTEAH F AR & T T

T o6 et Seareer weom ¥ forw anforSas afi=mes & e y=forg e ofs BfRaar &
afrarfore fr srot;

24, "E-FAeATIANA" FT T AN FIT AAHET HAIAT AT gera/[AHhred F e TRIreET &
T T GITI1 | HHT R,

25, "fAaTer FEEE" AT 3 fEawer ATsHTL T % Arqid &= § Aot i g & fory forawor yorre
HATAT 3T TALET HT AGHTT AT,

26. "fEAa<ur ATEEFETA" FT 2 U ArghT &= F ITARTA A fasreft ¥ swqfT F forg fawor ety
T HATIord e ST I T & for srfersd ArsEme Ty g,

27."EaTur q) FEEE” FT o0 fSawer ArsHweT F orqfd & # sl  g=rew & o g
TUITEAT o HATAT A TGS T AT g,

28. "R T groeh & TUTera Torea” &7 o Hisar < 9 AT sraem & 3coree Fue, arewr
ATSHALTL IT FEAT0r ATSHALTL T TTH G ATAT AT LTS8 g,

29. "fa=qa srqfd 1" F1 o srferfas it a7 50 & Tea iy FEE arifd Fie grm,
30. "HISIET IRASHAT" FT 212 1 9, 2024 & Tge ATVSTF FATAT % dgd TTUT TRITSIAT G,

31. "ATATIAT Fear" &7 o1 Foheft off o, foreft ot mrear a7 afkfRafa % ey & grm,; a7 = sars 12
FEATSA AT IR Afgd @3, ST It=a [E=07 7 9871 8, 3% T8 39 967 At fohell 9 a7 Fcd
* FR Tol g A 58 =T T@ATA & TRH | AT q51 ST qha T AT, S TEHT 1 ATTRAT
=T AT T &, =09 Refeed geqrg arfee g

F. TaSTet, g@T, AT Y Gehe, @, SaEr Gene, FEdd, J1E, 90, ThE, Ja8T,
AT AT, AT STATTIO Tiashed K| 7 oty afgq 9 &1 uw w1 o feer o aut
& T IUTAT 7 ATerF &; AT

g, qF, ACRHAU, HeE HAG AT AT oF F FE FA, ATRER!, Tdad, Fwid, @0, @,
ATqRATET AT &7 FAATEL: AT

T O § TPATH T STAA ATAT STANT-SATHT Z2aTel 3T T T2,

32."Twdiueg” #71 9 g Tuv i fawet 'de gumee gt (weddioos), [eer o €
TST/FFATHT T AT FIET STLHRT YA 0l AN & HEH H 2o AN, At @iig anrd
SIY ITO0T [ | T&ATE o FHILIT STAITHISA hl AT 01 ST ATAT fasTeAt 6l AR H ezl

33. "SR HYAT" FT A g FIS FHAAT AT FIATLE (FRTT AT THITHTLAT AT SARAT FT (AR G, AT
fAerfea 21 a7 7 21, A1 FHw =AEE A, S IIed AT F ATE g AT IHHT FATAT AT
TETETE FLAT § AT 29 (ATl 3 I o o, qerweoitT |rat & fasteft 91T e arefy FHu=t
T AT 7T ST,

34. "sfe wem" T ot fasrelt a1 wea F forw g oft wrow grm, e we-s I,
a=tie, e 71, Fad, a7 I F819F SURI, A(< &g gl, & a9 FHle AaT i §I
oTfirer g, TRt 39 3297 3T IHeht "T2e & forw It foha Srar 8; sSefeT w2om & forw
JUART FF STH FTAT AT, 3T STALIET T F GATAT FHATAT % AETH o o7 ITIT iy
ST ATAT s T THTEE, i ST fastett Ster-orf<e e Ieas it AT g, THH UL, g A
T FF, I T FATHEF STATL, TT 3T 7T FTegIToTeh i ATTHA &, SAThe TRl ST ATHT
H, THH FIe -T2 ATH A5l g, i == A=yt & v & forw e |t o
TASTeAT 92T FE ATl T FT FTgL T@T ST,

35." " FT T FAT-S[2 U ATAL, IT-FELHT AT ITATEH HIAT T IF Aol Shald TOTAT &
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g,
36. "ghel T ATT " AT ST FT 7 THT AT T F AL A1 9¥ U Fhearare
oed ST ITIe e o (oI0 sraed s fhem FART § a9 Fo11 S99 &

37."THIFT ITAIRQT" &7 o7 § g AT TL9 ST 3T FIHT T 7 ATRT T2 Agr@ # fasredr
ToraTT, 19 aAAE T T § IT 376 [ & d18 JCATEH, TRUIT 377 a2 & UF & offeT wrd
FLA ATAT SR HEATT;

38. "I TTH A" T 371 3 F1AT 307 Tiafaferat & g, g areaqemy &1 s g {u g
ATSHT F T | AT ATATATH F Tgaq ATAFT ATSHHLAT ZI % ATT FLAT AAITF &

39. "ATsAE" FT 7o U AT =t<w T oy srfarfaerd £ ey 14 F qga e foar o g s S
= fafaawt % TS & o v v ST oft efeer w;

40. "TRETes” F7 7 U av i A f dwia amra swatha sum s gem;
41, "qTg" FT o1 fafeser Foe F JAqE UF FoieT HIg g,

42 ."TE RIS FT 9T 1 99, 2024 FT AT ITHF IT1& ATIOTTF HATAT F qgd =AITud TSI
g,

43, "R " w1 A =T At o AT ft o i ey TR F SASTaT ATssy T S T o
AT T I 3T T AT ATSHALTN % GaIT ATq(d ATET 6 HIHA H, Tl & gie aret
AT ST I AT TLATS & HILUT ATHAT ST ST F e T ATATIh TLATST Al BIEHT
Tefara g g,

44 . UF IATEA FIAT, 0T ATTHHAT AT FHATC0r ATHT™T F qa69 § "6 3 T@e@ng 217
IqT "S U U 2F" T 7 IATET 9T, T ATSHaLT AT Foraqeor arsawemy g feeq &
HATAT ¥ TEawETd 9 6T T 23 g, ST S6H STaert<h, F3F0d, Iui1, STHRT Graiil, SH1
SIY AT eH offe 9% =T |l a7He g;

45." g IRATSHAT ART" 7 312 § AN T TG Fe-31h (i T RIS & 1 4L % Hiae,
STET AT ATHAT g1, ST 9T T IO ATSHadTT A7 [Aaer ATsaaemr g o6ar 111 v
=7,

46."97F A" T o g ATARIH &T o= 51 F o F siquiq Aaeor ATSHTT HT ST
g F Tvaq ST F o 1 o e,

47."@9® =" F7 9 A R U AT R ST arer swarted 3 i qehesradr, AT JieT,
FTS STRATRIAT T ITANT, TN T qHT AT ATARAT T UH 7T HLAHI 0 o4, g 6 F
Freror o forw ST g St=a /T ST 996t g

48."2T Fiees" &1 7 AT F7 BT Aot FRIT FSH 9% ITOT0T JUITAT T HATIOIT L o o0
RSt T 3T 8 7 UAT FF diees SS9 9% AT & IR0 YUt SUTRTRAT & T 9,
T a9 % forw =St o S €,

49. "G AqfT =Ear " FT 7 g fastett F fErawer siv g arqfd & forw ared| £ odt F aqEn
AT o & o T STHIHRTSA T AT ATSHHLT T fasTeft 67 fasht 1 sraem)|

50. "TrsF" FT 1 g TR T3 THY 37 FeHIT 3% g oTfed T39r T2 g,

51."TsT fre 1" 1 oof ST g AR w=er S 3T Feiw 3w Fw ol weer e * forw @
e s s (Ts7 ST #ie), safa=am & 9T 86 it STerT (1) F @ (¥) & dad
sra gy fAfEe fBafRem 2023;

52."we e foetw §e" a1 "uauas € &1 o7 arferfaew i ey 31 & 3w-gmer (1) ¥ qga i
g g,
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53. "I ATZEGATA" FT IF TR ATSAT FH ST Fd AT FATd FAA o6 [oI7 s7ferspa
ATSHALTE AT,

54 "7 TUITSAt SYARTHRAT" T 37 AT AT AT I T STANTHRAT, 2T, ST forsreft
I 3 39T F TSATA T T H2aeh T STANT FLAT

55."SuaRft Sfrew" arforsas ai=me it f[3fTr & Scarea weem/gfAe, awr yorret s e
JUITET 1 U TohTs % Hag § 34 it F affde | § afrarfie @B s,
56. "sgtfet " FT 37 ag FATA ¢ foree dga AT yurrelt i e aveHe i getaa giaemst &
YT TRt o= =ik gTT 9T 62, T 91T 42(2) F Jgd Raiia B S arer s s
9% fasTeft o qTRag ® for BT Smar g;
57. "SgifeT SaErE” & 7 g Aaer ArsHTeTy fit i & o7 § At & qhagd & forg e
TUITEAT o HATAT ¥ TELETT T ATHT |
58."®M feaq" #1 o7 ag fae grm 5 faq % =qa=ma & o oot = €,
59."ag" A7 "R au" &7 o1 uF i av (B aw) g, ST SFeie? a9 & 1 319 & & gral g 3T
I Fete a9 & 31 ATH I GH1H gaT gl
22. =9 fafAewt & s At erew i srfererfeat S =gt ot @8t § af sfterfae ar @ (R
Fre) A==t a1 y=forq dreemedtr o AfFasT & 9T g, ST a8t o1 g ST 3 HEL:
Ftafa=ay =1 e e a1 y=torg @t s Bfaat § o 31w g & 78t 39T & 10 o
AT AtHeARaT, At Sreg T2t ot sta =g a1 fie #e o1 s fie e a1 y=toa Hgemer
< AfFet & o =7 & g 78 B = 8, 396 a8 of g S i a7 et
ST § 3v¢ U o9 )
2.3. = FAfFawi it ==reaT §, 9 aF 6 989 ¥ w9 uterd T 2
F) UFAAT AT Ggaad | 905, AT A ATHAT 2T, FALT: qgAAT AT UFHhaad UG FH ¥ AqTHT 47
STTUAT,
) "ATHe g AT A" eTeRl H qTA "WATh Tral a "HIHT Al JIET SITUAT, 9 g UH eTeai T
T T TR AT AT S 9Teat gTT T STraT 2
M) =Tt "EREE F qT 9l F =9 GfAaEi F g2 F T H qET1 SATAT IT AN FAAT 6 ST ST
T THT-THT I FeMtera a1 gRafaa B ST aear g;
) A=A F daw oftds qgiegr & o e 10 8 o =9 Af==Et #F =7mear & 3ge7 @ Hi= fkr 1y
TS & 97 T ST 99 &,
T) &AL, At ar Refagert F gt o vF wr, BfRewt a1 RonfRdent £ S off g 2,
Ut T, TIAT FT AT TTAEATOT FT AT THT TTAF TTaLTAT T ATHA FI9 F & H
HTAT STTUATT,
=) = AfF=ET & et o Sraene siw sanT g arted T o= AfREs 3T straer F &= seeraar &
AT H, 39 I % ITaeTT THIET 2|
) "SR 7 AT Teal sl SATEAT TATIATHT €9 & FT SATUIHT
3. Faffas = s o smaee i
3.1, SENT 39 G ATHAT % forw ag-adty 2R g+ & e w1 i o, [es o s 5
ITE ATAHTT F qga &=Tawr g, oo Fafered amer €t arfve &
F) U TAqeor ATHALTE FT ITATEA FHIAT FIT fersredT it g
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Fordt o6 STt fastett & srgft & F+#ft #wioE 8, ag st £ st fiwd gt w3 & oo us
IeATEA FOAT 3 U Aaeer argaaamr a1 fAawor ArgaaariRat ® fi= sarEr F 9T uw av f
sratyr & forw fFu 0 aw=Ata % aqEer § @St & &t 31 '3ie & forg Rw it =Eaw 6w
AT e AT 97 FT ThdT

)  fasTelT T SraT-TreT qT;
M) fasret Fit sae-TsT SifenT;
E)REEEIEIRCCRUlE ML

Ford T <7 AT < 7 aAfers FAaeor ArsaadTiat g UF ot &7 | fasreft f&aer % 9 #, S,
Frawor ATSHALTRAT F S TTAETT T FRTAT & 6 oru, STt i gaar ot & o SRs &t e
ATERa® HI9T T T ThaT 2

Forq o STEr AT 7 STt & amT 42 it ITART (2) F T2q TS STAHE Hl GaAT Tga i
FATT &T 8, TH SUFRT, ATARIH T =T 62 T 374N (1) F @ (F) F A % I7a93,
farsTett 7 g a7 =@ & forw B off =aie & | vg Qe s aat (SR afga) 9% aw=Tar
T THAT g, oI T I A1 qgHId ol Tt gl UHT SOT TFAH i TAToId A9" Taad =Tt
& ATl gy At o ST s & awe-aae o7 gerrta BT Smar @)

3.2. ¥ fafqgw 2w & Mgt & forg el qme § ang a8t g

F) ICIEA EAT AT TR JOTAT TSTeh S il @IS g TLhIT FIET SATeEf=d T sTtafaas i
1T 63 3 Tgd AR FIT FTATS T2 Traeqell aret faerri=aert & s sfaeadT st it areasft
ikt 3 Arers T Y T

@) ol & TR0 HTAT 6 IcATaT T, ST THA-THT I FTed TArd Ao o1l Sh
=T =T 39k are & TRt srferfees g arfea g

3.3. faf=aw 51, fafaaw 52 =iw fafaaw 60 # MgiRa famar & e, smanr Fafefaa & oo g
TTSTET SALTHAT (TR FHET:

%) e ar a7
g) G A AGETH|

3.4. Taavor arsawaart == fAfqaat #§ [fde ffaaw 51 % sqar, {aer ar sraam i gaer argfd
AT % O FoT Toed Saedwdr & Heior & o Sewr-37en f&ewr ar«r U saed arad
FT

3.5. TRITT [ea Al A SEE & (o [FeTid Fo1 ToTea AraeashaT 9¢ Sremd gl

3.6. fasret it gawr ot & o geer srgia o, gear o sraa & forw [aita 3@ e
ATFLTFAT I SATEATRA R

3.7. HTIRT G9I-99F UL | T A0T Taad [AEIa) 6 A, Afa=aw it o 42 & 39-
ST (2) o Tl ST % Tgd So 1ol & [ 6 FAATAT HIT-ToTS T TLATS AT (LT T

3.8. TIRT HHI-HHT UL AT T A9T Tad [AIAT 6 Ay, A= aw it 9T 42 & 39-
T (4) % dgd Afats stferame ot fFatha sam

4,  TETAT & ATEE ATHRAH WHFH GidT

4.1. WE F T A % o1, ag =% T srar g & =9 ffeaet % qga Afce 99w & 7mede 3gan
ATES 2 3T SET off ATHAT 21, g TR ATHAdR AT [Aaeer ArsHaeT, i arareay &
ATTRT g AT ST o Jga¥ ATHaS! il T T & Tai TT AT U 9gd¥ HFeS <
& fArerieor % o g g
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5.2.

6.2

ATy 2: gy fRgia
T TRET % e artests Rgia

. SENT 1 39, 2024 & THET ag-au T R FET F J2d [=IHT 3.1 F @2 (F), (), (T) 3’7

() F dga ortaer fohw o wraet % forg & w7 Mretor )

TS FHAAT, T ATSHFLT, @A ar =5a|m™ T gaey orqfd =eqw & o @R &x
e F FA TSET AE@LTFAT AT AUTAT Toed & (Ao & forw ag-adia dfw s &
et arfae gir:

F) gl fe=ror srafer & forw ArsEaeaTr it SrEEr TreET, s G R sater i e 7 979,
SATHIE & 10 SATTRT T Yo 6T 3T 9T,

) g0 A= sty & o o Tee AEedsdr F a9-a qarqA digd U foeqd ag-adig
S TEAhe ST HIT-H8T 9% @R g7 (A{ag STl § saa® T Teqd (a0 Jard %
Tgo a9 & forw R =i o | srufera Trred & e

Ford T foaras fRter, e 9eT 99 =7 ARl a1 @ SET a1 AR R Sqaiad
Fg-auta N sray § [fde B T 2, g FeAr s@ate & o o e sraeTswar § 39
fAoITET ATIEET F Y& T AL a

M) Eur AT sty % forT T gy av-aTe Fel TS AEeAwdaT w1 (e Y ITTE O,
TIRYIT ATSHHLT, a0 ¥ a6 37 T A Aqe T & o Q=7 srafer & 98 a9 &
forg & =7 et

=) fAeures #i arfis qEtedr S SqHIed QETATT & AIET SArgIord i SATuIH S [Heares §
Ferrarett 1 =i s srfaefEa Feet | avfiaa B s,
T) FAGAIRT TATTATE, aTTUH Hoaras qeierr s qHreTT A¥ITE & e 9, == safd % fiaw

T A< a9 & [ofT ITTed 9+, TR0 areaadry, Fae a saa T o gaaq g
e & forw 2w &7 i et

) AT QATTAT & AT | A@TIerd @rai & e 9% ARt g7 fUse ag & @=f i
T[T FT Tel-Hal TG-S T FEAT A Aeares # f4=ar F7 Fefiwor, S sraas® & Ha=r & fiqe
FEAHT 6 HEO gal g (R0 FF) &l S see® & [Ia0 § 9 Fhl & 107 gl &
(=T FeF);

) =4 afF=Et # s g Afe g Feat & Fr SAqHIed AT 3T THATT & q1d g ol
FET;

&) = A § R g ey MEAofir St & F0r Aqaifad ard 1 THA Hl GTA1 Fd
T e

AT Ay * forg g
TR=Tor srafer & e a9 T goF e i (3) a9l & J@rairerd @rdl a7 AT @rar e AT
T TTHTE |TH T 3T T4t o ey 9 et B s,

Ford, fUser €19 (3) 9T F ST qATera @rdl AT AFTAT @At i STAsLAT F AT |, AT AT
Y % 1T godi &l ST T & o0 o7 T8 STATRATsh & 972 ATI8S] &l Hgid HT gl
&

Ford o ATIRT @I @rdl & aredtas sl 9% A= Fd g0 e a9 & o gedt s
gfurmaEasT [T dafer F o ATIESt F TeTas® w a5 qhar gl

T A 5.2 () & YTl % AT Al S ATt arued (HoaTad gHET & T ST
safer  forw fAeames stet uv o & o= 2 |9kt 2l
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7.2

8.2

8.3

GaT AT S fAa<or I saaw s 1 Tahr

farqwor ATeHEYTY ATSHE YTH SEAETT & @Al H [@Aae a9 ST GEaT Arqid FAae T |
AT HT| FEAT0r X AT 7T TS FT START Sl 1oiT ok Haidg e & foru o
ST GaET Arqfd =3a9mT & forw vareee, e fAffeas 58 & aqamw fFaer ar sq=9m F
T TRIet otie g, T START GaIT Mg o< Heiid Fe & forg o S

UHY srafer & forw St aF 3 @rat #i oot Agi AT Sar 8, Arsaast g|tad sraardt & o
AT 3T Trored &1 fasrfoa & foro faffeme 49.1 ¥ wem 3o 1o srae fagwor &1 399
FN

T Fit FreAT

TS HIAT, TR AT, i fFawor arsdiqemd, F3 arf¥a Jeor Se-weiv o g
ST TR9T A2 (AT & Ha1ad) A=aw 2022 % forw g=forq 93 fERa Af=ams T,
ST o 79T - 99T 9% "@etAq 7, % aqar, AEEET 9.1 F oqHw, ag-adiy R saed F uE
AT o &9 H FAFHE ST ITEA FHT| FT TTERTr g7 Afeed saitad ot === sater
(3t 1 19T, 2024 7 31 779, 2026) # o7 U A& AT (FI=07 Tafd & TEH g | Tgot
T % 30 qFGL T TEIT il SATTIA:

Forg T FfT sraRT gu-aaT ¥ fRenfAcer i =T ST F#AT g, a7 ST I ST HwuHT,
QIO ATSHEAT ¥ fErawor Argaaam g BT srom)
ITITEH FHIAT FILT T TS AT H 3+ ATAL o STATAT AT ed ATHe gi;

F) goir AT oWt , SEH AEra-AarT o F qry-ary #isEr €oEl & o ST #9|r grer
A Faer 1 fFEe, ST % #@a, Faawer TeET oY S9feod G St & a1y
USIRTT 2T FT aT(9% =90 oA gl T8 AT F9+T & [AHe g4 & o o e un
TISATSAT ST TEATAT &1 AT 6 ATET g,

@) (T fHeer ASET § F Tt TRATSHTSA T STeRT | ST Srowm Sy atarei= aut § f@earha
B, &Y 7 aReETe (ffeer |fgd) ST aferedi= aut § o il dfeha R safer % fiax
IT IEF 91 T g7 Tl &,

M) HiSET arsre fRrfaat, |/ISET o 9Tl it «av, ITEd Ha9™ | < a3 91 Tadr
T o= 2 F 97, ITATEA FOAT Goil 6= S FIor 7 967d (07 9% SATS 377 Siget
72 ) #1 gEF-a foawor yeqa #h;

=) WfHAT F 92 T U2 97 g1 & Haterq fFaw, afs w3,

T) AT wTIEst w1 TEe;

IO ATSHELTE FIT T SAATT AT § 7 11 o6 qrT-a1 Aeferied ot gi:

F) TIUI qedeh | A1 Al Il HT ATHA,;

) fAffw 8.5 F FA™ =HaETT ASHT § JEdTiad Al Jla, TRUT THAE § FHT T80T i
TUTET GETE SATAT % A= A AT F TAF: a9 6 (o7 Golt [Herer FremT;

M) gEATET YeAE AT AT OGS ST 3T AT it Fra (R0 9 ST Y StEher ¥ REd),
HISET 0T GHEAA] o0l 9T, 3,

) I ATSHELTE FIRT ToqTad Goil Haer ST & AqET [Houred d&d 78 9 Iy T,
TIEIT JUTEAT sl STASEAT, TARMT fAhedr 2%, S 2= srafer & goas a9 % forg s
TUTET & o7 #1 o7 TRiey;

T) wEaTad afaar i FArHg i & rere 9% FEAr sater & qoAE a9 F I FHATAT S ST
T ATHTT
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=) =T srater & Tes a9 o o o sqae it 9 a0 F g9 § |

8.4 fa=r=or srafer & form fEaawor aredmaT g % Fi T2 saar AT § Fetofa erfaer g,

AThT 3l d HITHT qgl g1l

F) fAaffew 8.5 F FAqE =AETT AT H TEqrtad «re ghag, TRU THaE H FHT TATaGH AT
TUTET T SITAT F AT A STATer & TedF a9 o (o7 Goif fHerer FrmT;

g) yEATEd Yed® AT A OGS ST 3T AT i anra (01 9 SATS i St v Red),
HISIET K0T FHEATAT %0l 90, (s,

M) faffew 8.6 F @ Ae=r srafer F yeaw a9 & o worw ST At $iw IT-Afor & forw
[EELRCILCIEE

) e 8.8 & srqEme =T srafer & v ad & forw fosfy qateeme siw feraeor Jeeme serdas
T AT ferstet! @iig IS ;

T) ATTHELTE T Jeqriad geit Faer FreET & aqeT = sEfg & g av & oo faer
THEATT & AT |

) ST qfaar oY FarHgi & rere 9% [FEAr srater & qoAE a9 F A FHATAD S G9EIr
BT SATHTT |

) =T srater & gos a9 % forw o= sqaer ¥ g & qee ¥ e |

8.5 YSit aer Tt

%) e, gt d7==T, Fieaa aqEEt, THE-ar SR 23 S geiieor SAqEEl, A
AT, ANt fAgwor, ywearfag [Hae F w1 A safa § afewfeuq of=mes gaar o
T % A 6 (70 STah T AT 6 [ZE0 6 B9 H TEA 6l ST ATl S (a7 TST1 § AT
ST AT TATSIHTY, a@Ts STt ST g terel= =i av # Fe(t oY 98 aRAseT (=T %
1) ST E G AR SR STafer & HIae 7 39 a1 T 3l Tahd Tl gl 3T T Lol TRATSHTe
o TorT ST sitf=rexr % |y aeftearefi fA=ror srafer & =entt, TH o= fFeeor yeqq e S ;

) AT AT TEE GIET SEATiad ol farer ZsTT STfereheor/sheiar areevr SUFTRET gier aare T
TTSTATSA 3% FEraeor ArseadTy H7 IS [Heer TS F SIqEd g,

M) AT fAeuTae FEeT F O, AT SERd GSRTd 4 T qadT | ATsadeT g R w
ATt GorNTd o7 T ST T (AT AT ATSHHT ATuE (AoaTa JHieT, 99 i Rw
TSI & THEior & |1 fohT 70 areqiasd ISiRTa o3 &l T&qd H;

) TR, ATUE T THAT % I, F=47 (=01 7afer % 98 a9 & A7 99 q%) qredia® Goir
= AT AHIRT ISt AT & 50% & FH g, AN AT a9 A g7 safey  auw auf §
AT ISTNTd o7 & HaTerd TS qedl il Tel T,

T) T AATARTN HA 6 0 ST =37 6T sraedhar af, S Oot [Haer TeeT # e Tgt
T 9T 21, AT ATSHHLT AT 1 /SZT & o0 yeartad &1 i SAraraate e Wi w1 3=
TEL AT HILUT HAigd THT TR SITAHILT Ik Teh STaaT STHT HT

Fora T =ty St 3w g9 F ga< 1 F9 F24 F T sruraesrets w1 31 st fufaat =+
o gSfeTa =3 &t saeashar g1 ST AR AT 1 THHN T3 AT a7 F Fle AT eAfaq a7
THATT ZICT, AT ATSHALTI I ISTITT 7T HT qg FT ThdT g AT ATART F TAATIT ATHIET &
o ot sff=re o | fAewor Teqa T a1 2

T Toh T AT 8.5(F) o TSI o oI, UF AHITad ISINTd o497 &l ATeaadTed g 0
T ATt ST o4 3T AN T SATHITST ST 243 ZI|1 6 Uah AN % &9 § JET ST,
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8.6

8.7

8.8

9.2

9.3

=) ATEHHAT T4 AR forg v Ravd v [AArd 6 A wEi 6 sty QT a1 3HE uge Iv

FAT S gotira Faer FsET § seariad S 217 3T OGS Fi SRrta &1 fEeawer o
STTUATT, ST 36 ST gy |tet & forg efera grm

fesht gatqam
T qETgAT Y=t [EsTell @ie 3T GiE ToHaT a8 & TTaemei & Sqare har S
ﬁd(“l RENICIEIRCE IR

TTETHIA-SESI Sevhd qize 97 A ATeHaay Hf sl @i sAraeashar il TUET AR
FIET AHTTRa faaeor =1e o arer foefy Fr g 7 JTusft:

T T STANT SHEETT ASHAT 9T AEIT & AN & &9 § FAHIq 17 F Aqa Te7 ™o 91e &
fretha % Tar 8;

FT Toh TAraqeor ATSHTLT, ST T (HEid STEdl & SqaTe, Gared auf & o &-are f@aar
TRATHAT STATT Fehed/TART/FAraqeor i 7 fEawor seqa .

T o &A=-ATE FAqeor FHa=at, I a0 g, a7 TERE a9l & [T, 386 a1569 &7 & diac
T AT ThATesit &= § a2 A=Al &l ST § SR He|

IESEIECRERIERI

g ArgEaaT sl ft @ F o uw TeET T3 w9 S =i foeet gdw 6w w1iE
ToRaT AT o Il & SIETe T U

Fora T THET ot @i FeET | 39 AAIEt & aqan, St adiw & s, 59 saty
1T FeTRTIorh HIT T 21 Jhd 2;

ag-afir 2w e

ATAEH il AFTATT AT & G T o AALTFAT AT <F & AUTET T FT TATTHA, o5
QIR T STHL-HeHIT ST g QTHEd Teer A (FFFET 1 ga1aq) o= 2022 % fore sy=ioa
Tk foea ARAEE SR & A UF AT & q1eq8 & e qafy & forw, [g=or sEty
qF B | Tgo a9 % 30 Taa¥ 2022 TF Hx ATHT TS STEH-FLHIT 3A¥ & oqTiad T34 qera
(90, AT 3 wa91?) vt & oo y=fera w9 fAea A aramr § Afds 3 g%
AT T FHLAT g

T Toh ATrad & AT TNTaH IUe AGTILI e Gl AT AT oF Tg Bg Hg AT o A< qreaiash
T2 T ATE o g A I o AT o AL T AT AW 6 AT T ol THIET % ST I qal
ATroRT AT FAd FT T A H FI=07 STafd & AT a9 6 ST el ToTed AT TITFHAT T
QT e AT AT AL % HAG F HTAd ATAAT HT STANT Fideh THT T[T SALTHAT HT
@A AwEa w0, SEd [ s@te & T30 a9 & 909 o o raedsmdl AT g,
S|H o7 aTar & ATT-ATT AR g 99E-a9Y 07 [AiEE Remacent o wredt # sqar Geqa
FU-aTT ot 3T 9T A, fBset @i FeET, S Faer TeET, =9 [AfFEEt 6w @9
e § e ATIEEt & T80T 7 a7 g

e MeTeriad & e ux SR SiiY (e & STUterd Trered T TATTATT [ erd He:

%) U IcATa FHOAT 6 ATH |, =107 srafer o Fraw sy st aw & o o gahre /2™ g

ITATIR T ST ATAT TasTert T AT FT ST,

g) IO ATSHHAT & ATH |, Fa=or @ty & diae smmdr @i av & fore arewor gorreft

SUTRTFHATS T AT TEd TTLT0T &HAT T ATHI,
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) AT ATSEHAETT % A |, =7 srater & e st @i a9 F O St wi e
£ T ATt T AT T STTRTERA TS T AT A AT ST ATeAr TSt S /T v

AT,

o) 3aed F it Aty a7 y=era 2w

9.4 TR srater & Uget au & oI Fet ToTea Aol o TATTHT 6 AT 92 ¥ f@3aer e saa T
AT ga AT =EE™ % forw IRw v gew, Scred FOr, TR Ay s e
ATTHALT | AT TSTE AT I, [HI=7 s7ater & ger a9  forg e yeqriaa fohar srom:
Fora o faawor arsdaeaT g swarEa dRw afafaas i g 62 &Y = A F aqEw
BT

9.5 A= TATAHTT FT THAH FIA qTel TOT (Ha<or Ja&9 w0, Rred e g, 80ar a1 Icaraed]
ATH TTH FIA 6 (1T YEATAT T8, THAThT eI, HIAQTcHT AFEAT /AT ATeATHE THTT 6
FErawor et giNr afeh ===t @& i 981 S, aTfeh TART &l GATTHT il ThERTadT FT ATwad
FIA H AT TATAT ST Hohl

9.6 STeEd WTH gid 9%, AR AT Al
F) Tt fAe=ror st 3 forg et Tt araeTeRaT o AT s & wger 7 % forg 3w v sy
S FATAT UF AT AT H; AT

g) forfea =7 & a9 fFU ST aTer 10T 3 ST U< e 1 T &Y, ST sranr sf=a
A

T T ATAEH il I ATAGH Tl @IS FIA  Tgol AATS HT IToId AqHY [T A0

10. fafere =< % forw wag oy

10.1 ST, SHAETH TISET /AT Tg-AGTT S ITTRT I TS ad TG0, T A0 6 (o0 T TeATah
FRathia % gwar 2, SEd agms gud, oM g &%, o U uy =247, faaeor g arfs ot
T T STATRIATY Fg-au 17 I AT=reht 92 areer # e areet &1 91+ 3

10.2 SMaeH T Y& HAETT TISAT FT AT & aTel a9l § AIRT g7 Heifa Teqaw® o seas
BT FeA TTSTET ATFLTHRAT /AT SR AT 9o F STUTerd TsTed o QargAT | amaer foa sroam)

10.3 T FOset M= srafer % qureT § SqHAled Ul Ue " e & &4\ § T@d gu =
sty & o arfiess udt g T Fwerdl gea 97 & e wam [{Eerr sEfe & o arths
TET UT HT THATT TTaH Fl ATTRT FIT SATHITST STETLTIIT &A1 o AATAT, TIAT/FLTTET Al 10T
ST

11, TA=ror srafer & e arftie fAeare g, aamen i dRw Rl

11.1 ITATEH FHOAT, T ATHALT ST Faer arsaaary 91 auv #f arus Heara aurar, g
FY A7 39 9 ForEe forg FEmaifera ara Iuers g S SINTHT Yo 99 & forw &R o i &
T =T Jes 99 30 FEET § 9, AN g7 9HT-90YT 9 A IRT #§ UF sAread e Hmi

Ford o ITaTEe FHUHT, I ATSHALT, AT fEawor Argaeemy, SEr off 9T8ar 21, ST & U
HIH § ST TEQT T ST AN G A e AT ST 9hdT &, 979 &f T@ra<iierd @rdi, @rd @l
foRaTal 3 SET 3T UH 7T FHY TS AFeTHdT 31T S 37T o & STUTerd TIored & Aqaiad
@i | i feares # et off T & Fon Sl HAT 7 AT H 6 (o0 ST &l

AT e Aedd nIT;
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11.2 aTfte fAeaTe JHET, T3 S SRR Reior 7 a0 T TS aedqhdT oY S oY T o
FUTENT TISTEd & AqHISd TATTHTT o AT IcATE HI=T, T ATSHHLTLT AT FEawor ArsHeemr
& TAvaTas & AT g, 3T 2o Mot ortie ghr:

F) z-o7 : o =it ad & forw z-ema o 57 =T 8, Sa o sraes & amraditerg Aeares $i
AT Terashqor St o o1efie, UH foger =it av & o srqefed q@iqaTe & 91 it St &,

g) ATuT Aeures q T - st S % 94w aaae B v & oo [ a3ty F aqew
S SRS | SAHITST TATTHTT & AT F1e] (&= a¥ & T saash & |eriterd Aeara qer fir
T,

M) AT o ToIT Fef TS SAALARAT o FATTET TATTHTT o ST T FHI=T AT o AR a9 o o
w Ayt

o) ST T THI-HHT T S (HQe0 6 ST sl qHieT;
T) o= TTE R foaw, afT #E g

11.3  o¥ITE & T 2 I, A afFaw 12 % qga ey =1 % forw Aeares @ @t ot agame a1
sufera f=ar &1 sreaasd & Fsor § wreaht (Ra=efa wrel) a1 sraes & S § 9wt
(At Freet) & forg S sgarom:

Ford T = fAfFaw 12 % gga Ffde =21 F e Foures & Gt o sgema 37 sefera e &
for i Fat &1 T avg & See SgaaT ST

1.4 T8 & 9T, 0T U R smaer 9 )

F) ATITAT Feant F FEfaT AqHIRT AT & =Feh, S e a9 F S a9 Tai (60 0 &, Irg
= fafaaEt & e 13 % srqam e # aria far sroa:

FITA, Teh ICATEA AT o (U, JULIh TTehAT ToATord Hreamedt R AfHaeT & srqam gril

@) A0 FTTHT 6 HEOT GO ATSHHT AT FT20 ATSHTE™T & TFd T A1 AT 6T,
ST UH ATH AT UH THET 0T 19T 57 29 =t & === 14 % A arAy it A7 996t 2

T, T ICATET AT o (0, JTXh TTHAT THATord Hreaedt R A=+t & srqam gl

) IeATEA HUAT, TR ATSHHLTL, AT Farawor ardaemy #1 39 sy & forw o siae i afer
T AT AGT LA 0l AT &F Srustt, 5 {2 it UET $fa< 3F g7 37 8, A1d, 3q a9 % 3 o
e o 2-377 ot T 8, 39 a9 & 3T aF oraH 38 gaied AT 3T g, TS § "1 w1
T o ToIT ATSHTTTr g7 o1 70 sor it aredias &% & e 97

FIT Toh TS AT T LA I AgH ARTT &l (Aol ST A 3T a9 H gl 6 a1 | dg aAnrd
FH A o IEATAS T A1ET TEQA FieA 6 e SATATT &t ST e Tsrea {aw Ft dartda
AT &

aord T 7y Trorer = 1 @1 Fw F foru g oy A8t o w2, seiw uw (1) a1 F e
v dF (THEters) vHHtuas/sEs e off afterr s o Jem ST F e o an awe
T AT ATATT 2T, STET AT /AT 21, TTEEw a9 & 1 0T T AL el AT 100 g SF % qre
Y, ST 3% seefvens g srferg e o &, S 1 ad i srafyr F forg waret gnm;

FrT T TS SATETAT 6 ATHA |, FANT AT § 39 Afr & aga anr a9 wan v o
T STfErerT 3 g1 AT 8, ST, 39 99 o o F forees forw w2y Gt w8, % o9 9% ag ad e
TH UH (1) 99 H AT AT 6 T 9T Halfdd harT Jar § 9T & S (THaias)
THEHTUAA/3AF AT ot TTIedTae 9% |Temor sATS7 o STeT 9% AN agd H i AT &9,
Sar oft ATHET g, T RE a9 F 1 i F AR 27 A 100 ST S F A g1, S o snatang
g srfergta T T g, S 1 aw i srafer 3 oo gl g,
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12.

) SAETTHT =t A o o7 ST 3T SR &7 Herre|
gt i A= #1eF

12.1 =9 TAFFAT F Ao % o, qru a1 @aeer aeaaary & & gt #E asw |

et wrer orffer g, St ares|em F [ § 0¥ 3, ST AT g T 9 gl
[ERISIE:ED

F) ATATIAT AT

Q) HF LRI, T TR AT AN 6 FIA, TS ATT0TS ST el § a1,

M) IATTHTAT T FEIT T FHT0T AT STATHTAT T AT AT ST ATAT Fasreft b 7= § o,
o) ST F fiq¥ d AT H T q1ET;

T) fasreft @i OHETd AT AART gRT AAIed SAaeqT it oat & qefi=. e sar & fasret
TE 7 2T | forear F Freor et =i i anrg § e,

=) qaT T

7)) faawor areEaeaT F o arr e,

) ST Srater % STl % forT arerTe ST &4 | o=,

) AAT AN AT FHATAT 0T AT AT il AALTHRATH 6 HILI FHATL AT THHIT TIATT
aF HiAd &

) F ST TLTF oo,

) AT 9T T

%) dg @Td ¥ ST TC @ F0 6 AGAT T AT

Ford, ¥ e 981 w70 et off =< % o, STt sirae® &1 97 g & afqata st +
FT FoReT o ay & 9=eiF & FIT Agcaqur fS=ar a7 sruterg f3e=ar g, UH sfaes g A
Ty & forg =0 BfAaw & 98d ST & &ee 9% UH 92 &l 1A F3d & (o0 STIRT § sreed #i7
LET N

Ford foh forelt Scated u«t & o SR = wes T=ior et dRw Rfaaer § [AfEs g

12.2 == faffaet F v F forw, arwr a7 g argdaat F oo "R st ges § F w e

TS BT ST ATSHEIT o 307 § o, TAH o7 a1dl o arq-ar Meterfaa artae gir:

F) USRI AT IRASET % FATEIT § FHT /AT ANT T ATARAT/TATT F FEOT GSRT §
frerar, St Ut TRASET & T § SAqArad qadd, JeTEE el § Tadd a1 AT qeAr
& FILOT Al B ;5

) IT @< (U) § [EE oqEr, S § M9ear & ®0r o7 A7 &5 gk, ardnT, 7
AT AT FTAN Ioft saeaanaratt # foerar,

M) e U H THRATT A AT F T H2u ket F A Gawor argEagry it e e
s arforisaes (vt v ) TR § feam ud i #f gEwae B omr F o fea ety e
faferat F afifore- & e fr v g;

=) e gwaE S 39 a9t STt F7 i % O fe S TAe 3T SHT a9 39 AT
89 7 9 it T FT S & AN 6 = (q< 6 & H 7T 1T &

T) OHT-a9F 9T "qentad fEaver argdaytiat & AfRgue F oo e F y=iem s § A
HTAHT 0 QT T | e,
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) AW IATHAT H TEATE;
) WETERIT 6T HHT T GIEH, o U2 uq =37 | f9=ar;
) TAE=® 65 % ALl % ATETE AT 01 Hl 9 @Td § ST [¢dT TAT:
) AT T ITAEAT M Y Iqerserar § foeram
T T Teh ICATEA FHIAT & (o0 [HI=00T Fah atoq disendr e et § [fEe gn
13. AT FTERT F FTLOT ATH AT THATT & [T AT dF

13.1 AT FTEAT F HIOT TRV AT AT BT AT F7 T 16d T AT AT THATT UHT
FAT T AT ATTHAGT AT a2 ATsHayT F SR § FHEIS & €9 § 9 i St Sar
o = Rt 3 qga ol s % seer ® fAfde G = e
Ford T UF Ieared FOAT F forw ATt wEnt & 0T AT AT TERATH F IR g Ay SaeT
THfora HreeeHt o At § e gn

13.2 9T ATSHAAT I7 FEaeer Argaadr<y, B 70 =5 3fi7 srfsta e & &= 3fa< &1 a8

AT EIRT AqAIRT stihet &0 RS T § SIRT &1 T g7 Feamd+ & forw sraers foega
TUTET 3T HSTIF TEqTAS o6 &1 TEA FHT

14. TR0 FILHRT % FIT ATH AT THATT Rl ATAT FLA T FGedqT

14.1 FRFFof TR & FIOT TR ATHAITT T FSa2or Arsaaarl &7 T&ha $o o et
TR & FTAT FoRAT ST =R -
F) TH ALG & ATH & al-fdare T AN & aaer # e st & s R d ge v sT H aF
ST,

@) QI (LA, ST UH ATH AT Th-Tdgre g, [EAaeor ATsHaemy & [&ed 98 STIRT Al ST 96l &
Fret Toh TorelT ITaTa FAAT o forT [e=rofir et & 10T AT IT THETT FT ATAT HLA ol FTeAqT
st Jreseet v et # [Afde an

14.2 =il LT % FHTLOT TR0 ATSHHLT AT T ATSHAERT FT T Fle ATAIET Tl THA
gt g, a1 39 Aeferied i o e o
F) TH G 6 THATT il U [dgrs LT AT AR F Aaer § [aiia srater & e 0w § Jfain
9T % BT § I (64T SO, T
Q) 9T (LA, ST TH T F THATT T QI-TdgTs T, ATSEHALTI FIT TALTUT Tl STUIAT

14.3 &+ =0t FThT F FIOT ATH AT THA, T T 6 A0 g &Faw 9 & vamw 7 G @
2T, T AT fAaeor ATSE|em<y & @rd § g

15. fw F71 Mgty

15.1 & 3 HeTor & ol SRIRT E1RT 6l ST AT [ wrdaTel aHT-997 T% GLTed g e T3e7 ST-
FOHIT 3T g oTTET T3 F2r@ (FFET H7 g=1ad) A=aw 2022 F forw y=forq @3 &=

o o o
EIGRIEERSIRIN %\ﬂjﬂl( gl

15.2 = fafA=at § AR BT A1 ara % arasE, S & 99 g 999, =9 9909 6 e 97 AT
ITATE T, T ATSHHLTI T FEa<or ATSEEem g 1% A=t o, F=w i odt afza
R Rt s &1 srfderre grm:

Fordt T SN &7 UET fAgTeor et a9 37 SHaeT & AGETe AT =797 AT ST 99T 8, A8 98
T2l ATART ZIXT SIS 2l a7 Aal Y 39 EAfFawi & TI=aar & 9ger a1 918 § et off 9097
[ERIRIE T
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15.3

15.4

%)

15.5

=4 At o [Afga Bt o ara & arasE, It UAT SRF &% G g ST RermHaen & g9
AT ¥ areaeft swiraT & Areay & Faiia frar = 8, ar st 2R 1 sroeT:

FT Toh rerge URT ST &I FHT el SART &l g Jq€ F & (o0 Sraedahal i & =q
e # e qeanTe gIeT St fRenfRaert w1 e arere G w2

HIS[&T STATEA T2 o forw S a7 e

Stet T 7, =4 ARt f saradfear f aia ¥ 9o G oft g9, e Ieamee FuHT i
T Ao AeEadrr & @19 [t @iT AT I1 FAGeT H G930 < &F § IT JISET I
TS /e F fastett i sraf F forw sad [Afga 2w &1 st €, agt B aredaears
ITATEA FHAAT g7 fesett &t srqi & o TR vE @St @die awsd 91 UHr sEte & o
T H Ifedfad S & TTA SRIT ST SR g7 AT IT SO ST 96T &,

sret, =4 fafaeat f sarasfierar i fafar % sEme, AwieEr Scared weom & faset i st & oo
TS IATET AT ¥ U (Haeor ATsaadTy % s+ fasrely @<ig q9=ita a7 A€ T AT 51T
ST Tt R T & a7 saw AR e v s g A e T § A S wre St
GE qHAT AT FGEAT Tl g, o (AFAHT 6l TATFeadr it ag & 978 VAT IeqTae Hdet
T U rawer aresmeah A et fi sl s gy s et wde ausa ®
AATY g

Ford T U fastet @die HaATT AT FGET & ATHIET 6 [0 Faeor arsaaem grT 2 e
T ST Al [T | T (3) Al it Srafer & WIa< ATART T e (AT ST

FTdt Toh TorsTett T AT aqaTT Ao AT HAEAT % dgd, STaT AT AT g, ST 7@ il SIqAfd
A ST, St a6 o s v fasrelt wdie awEt i AR 34T @ i At s orfea = #
TS HO F U Aot @its Wt a7 SHaeT F G F7 <dT 8 af 38 @d a8 #7371 ST

qU I L9 & forw R = Ryt

F) TF ICATET HIAT GIT Uk [Aq0 ATSHALTET &l Uk 7% ICATET Thle/Eee F fastet &f arqfd

15.6
)

16.
16.1

16.2

o 2w, SRF ST g srgHTfea fBsTelt @i 9T & ST gl
T, AT T SHEET 3T GaEIT A FAaErT & forw R wr e

AT, AfRTH 16 % SATA T AT FFqo ATSHaeTAT T 0 U STaad & e 9% S
=7 freatoor w4

(). =7 RAFAT % sreama 5 § [Aiga F=HT i orat & Aqa [eiett 7 997,

(ii). =7 FAR=ET % 7earT 6 § [iga F=Ht ofi orat & Jqa [ % &9, 3
(iii). = fafa=st % sreary 7 7 iR =i sl ot & sagaT s s=ae |
TS T T T

AT AT & ATHIGT 6 [T AEET g QTHT T3 STH-HeHIT 3T Fg A8 d 29T q2rEd
(FaET & H=rad) A 2022 F e y=toa @3 e e aranr & e e smafer
& §0F I F Ugel a9 o 30 qFGL T (ohAT ST AT U, T THE AT e Hi <F g, ST o6 &
TR T9T STH-FHIT 3T g AT TR T2 (e, AT 37 79r) faffae 2022 F o
ST S A AT e § [iEE )

IO Toh STET AT TTSIAT I FIA o [oIT e ST [ HIGE TEi (63T T3 ¢, agT ATaaa &l
fafary sraee T F3 o AR] e FT A HAT1 20T

< & ferieor & forg sraee g2 AT 30 qEa% a% 29 Aty § Afd ey & adE 7 g A
% qgd MeE g & ar T ST 96t 2l
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16.3

16.4

16.5

16.6

16.7
16.8

16.9

e = Rgieor & forg s gy &t ST arelt Frdarar aHT-9HT 9T HLAET 65 AT T8 TH]-
FOHIT 3T Fx OO TR AT (FFETT F7 H=1ad) w2022 F oo y=foa @3 FEE
[ERIEEA RN GG IR

ATATF T ATANT KT AIAT ATCRT 6 B *F €9 H, FHI-GHT T A0 g1 FiEe wredt 7, g
TSI ATTIAFHAT 3T < 3T e & AT TSTed il TUET T T2 a0 T2 FHIAT gRIT 377
IEF TR, UHT ATARTh AT A7 Eawor a1 S&q1as Teqd FAT g fSrEeht ArFRT &l UEH TorEr
FT ATHRAT LA o [T IT=Iq T H SAFLTHAT BT ThelT &

FTd T3 ATIRT o AT, Tt YR 21, Rg=ror srafer & "t av & o g o araeashar #ir
FEEAT o oI AofT-a1e TR T arar SR T oo F9med Seard §d (3T S

FITT T3 ATINT THT-THT T S ZIT T 60 ST arer fErawon & oo sifafen/aswteus ey
TSy %7 gFar g, FiTh FTof Tored ATITFHAT AT ATHAT FA AT SF IR FA & o0 Iq
3 E 9 & sraeTwar g el 2l

Forat T foeger ad it s SETadterg wrat a7 srarfia gt oiw T8 g af F serhfea
FTAl % 97 IE AT ST AT

IR FHIAT AT ITLIOT ATSHHATL AT 3o ATsd9gT<y, SULITE AT & AT, AT 510 379+
foger TR sreer § ST faRw o e, wfE @ gn, F aqures f fufa o v fGEeer e
FIITI

fw & Frateor & forg e # faaeor arssaat g gmar R U Tew 9 |/ T areqtas
qfea=t ¥ fOeer au F forg -7 Frf=rehr #7 faEwor arfie grm:

ITT=rhT T AU SATead | TaqT0 T G2 | T SATE & gAFATH G (oh AT ST

=4 fAafF=mt #§ [Afde a9t sraegswaret & aqued § a9t sraferd S, Eawor s a&aresi &
AT TF U7 ATCERT STH g 9%, ATTeRT STH AT STOAT 37T ST ST i AT il TS hid 6
ey § gha Ha

AT SHAETT ST 6 SATHIEA ST SR & [T & fory siraae arfae w2 & 14 (3reg) f&qr %
1T sTaad & STIaTaadr, A(S Al 2T, T TASTHIIT ST ATk TR 7T qha T 2l

16.103HTET FHIAT AT TTLIUT ATSHALTL IT FAa<or ATsHaey et 10 (39) &t F Jfiaw sraewss a«dt

TISYHOT 37 SITASRTT 3 |1 AR T {79 2471

16.11 3Taae, AT GIT AT=RT TR o ST o |11 (7) &= o fiqe, S&fea & § =39 91 arer

FH | FH I SFUST ST I ST ATITA 6 I THTATE TAT § SqAT ATT=T 6T GAAT THIAT
FT:

FT o ST QT ATt il gTe i Rt §ff =3f<h &7 ST gy eiha e 70 s o7 i
T 9T ITASY FLTUAT:

Frd T AMAEF ATAT TaAS JIETES TY, G TNT e ITET § AT SIS w3 I w=efie
gTeq # faEqd ToET TE T Fd U, AN gy AgiRa alds & gt famas wefnT, g9,
faa¥or Y SEqTaSTl o AT ATANT F qHeET ST AT W a7 F4T;

Ford o Sfeafag UE Sl &7 99 fofsdh ST § STAsY NI, TISAAIE Hld o [T Sehied
TR T SITURTT 37T SIS 1 Sedre daaTse T TH@Edr | Tarerd T Sroa:

T Toh SATAEH I SATART FIT UHT s T ST, [Eaor A7 T8q1ae & F7 | e &b o1 dahd 1
g, ST = T A En
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16.12% gTeor % yeara o2 g™ ud st afw w8, B oft sfe g, m g e

it & ARy gag-TimT F Jaw, smass F1 uF 9iT F 97, 6% o7 997 TR-HHT T R
QIR TR AETE o TorT df=ra, §3<h fa=a Ramae ST & a87er I o6 ST 99t gl

16.133Maa T ITAH ATed & Tawrerd &r At & v (7) &A1 F Faw aranwr f1 gaw =1 92 T

TTeH T FEEor T&qq FEAT R 37T 3T THTETE A7 6l TTaaT A ITaer FeAT giir S8 qrfes
EENIRRER IR D]

16.143T93F &l AT AT & SaTd § ITH GATAT ST A=, I3 FlE 2T, T AR 3T [iee q97

T % e sroey feoaforat ast AT gt

16.1539 A=A & MR T AT a19 & aras(E, SEaE TISET & AGHIEd i SF & g % oy

17.
171

e & faea/seqa 7 g i RRafa &, S oft Jr8er g1, aranT SR F Feiwor F fore = g9
d g 3T FHATR! IF FL Tl 2

Ford o ST FEHATET & dTaS[@ ATSHALT G SEAaH T dal H3d hf (oot §, ST oo
U % S 3w & e U ST ST HHTHISIT &l T H & 918 T3 S a9 FT gl 2
Ford o I SMaea® Bl al AT ATE=a it &mT 129 3% 9T 142 & qgq Maer HF a1ia &7
qHAT gl

R araer

AT, O vt i S i At 7 uE Gt fig (120) =1 F e, sie s gy e §

AR TS SATARET ATEERERAT GRT T80T 9T IqAqe4 w7 & a1g, 3 Afasr Baamwest & ama a+@t
TATAT AT AT 9T T F3 % 918 T&H FA:

F) S ATQer ST 6T STTOAT, AT
@) X TAT ATAE AT=IH ST ITh qgaq 910 TU @AHIHT F Taem=i a7 3T T80T qR] el o

17.2

17.3

18.
18.1

18.2
18.3

18.4

FIA 6 TTALATAT 6 AT ol g, ql [orred & § a5 6T ST qTel FILO H AGGAT il FAEA TR
[ERIEC LR
Ford o ToreT smaae T IHF e Hl AR FA § Tgol AaTs 1 Ir=d Aqa fodT S|

TH YT THIAT S 36 Aeer | Miag [t & a0 g o Sta ae gentaa a1 Aweq agi &ar
STTAT &, 9 T 39H [Reiia sate & forg 7wy 29

ATAEH ATTNT FINT ATHITST SIF T FHH & FHF QT S 3T T TATAT ATITSAT 6 Seieh FHET T
H THRTIAT FT, AT ITae 1 AT T ATSHHATLT 6 T AT a0 ATHaems 6 g
&, ST | AT 21, § SATIS THI M| AT TedAe qaaTse ¥ AqAISd % FAqaHl, 3T 3=
QI T ST e 9T TRt |l 1<F 7 UF F ATl U et fawhl & [T 3ueee HITuam|

-7 A<

STIANT AT QT S AR F BF F T § Gl &l Agl BT AT ARTHT a9 6 < AT F TgA 6
GHAT F Z-37T & [oIT AT ST FHT

= &t Teadar & foro it smeme 9% seer STy AT o

AT FT qAar w1 A9 A== av it geeard § By U = aqEmEl e a9 & oo fEaer
ATSHALTL o AGTILETT G sl hdTal § &91 AT i @4t % AT 9 g

ANTTHT a9 & forT @@=t &1 o (U8 a9 & @1 & -7 ST AT 99 S Q9 & A]eT
HATHET 2 AT T R
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19.
19.1

19.2

20.

2 meer &1 qTee

fAfde foro o et Y S srferame wnier &t 9|t & dgd T8 €9 § SqAq et € oiady & dae
H grewy, et off &fow = el 2w & Red & o\ a7 72 v v ° uE F i ae wqentaa T8
T ST FeRaT 2

7fX FIE IUTE AT AT ATHAeT AfHy 1 4T 62 F T8 3f7 = AfF==t F srgEe arr
grar et 2w & sifers i a7 g awe Fear g, afafes afer 59 =1fe &1 37 grft S
TTHRE STEfd & T TAid S &< % a<1a¥ sATT % A1 UHT HHa AT o A1 G 64T &,
foaT foreft o TaTeT 9 wiader T 2Tl foreen stefie UHT IeaTad FuT AT ATSHaUT gn qehdl
EF

Forar o ToreT T Tet 7 37 U TS T ATSHALT T T T576d ATAITHAT 6 ATEAT & GG il
ATATT Aol &f ST

FTd o ATSHTLTE 19 GIXT ST FohT T 7 3 UH SATST T AAT-3(eT Foaeor T8, 37 378
ST ATTRERT o AT SATART T T FHT

gfeqsT o=

20.1 TfE T &1 AT g Fatha e o BT SUsiRT 37 STTIRTS F a9 # Fs afenst o fi

21.
21.1

21.2

21.3

AALTFHAT g, TLhIY, ATAHIH & gmr 108 F dga fuw v Gt «f e & amEsE, fGawr
ATSHALAT/ATAST % AT | TATAT 1<k Al TAESAT o & o0 =9 A=At § Ay o 7
HLHT ZIT TG 6l TS qfeqet &l AN FA & (&0 Arzaaegr a1 6t s gefaa =i * fog
T o1 o ®9 § STHUH TI197 AT IATT R

Fora o #fe spram == Afaaet § [fRT smaem=t F sqa 981 BT =@ § a1 9361 &1 UET wils
TAger ToTET TET ST, ST ST T MaTd <R = Sae § ST G0 SQeT STy e #f fafe
H AR ZTT

T17 FEATIAT TIFHIT 20T &7 7 G717 ZIET F27 aF [drdd] ST 1 TTIar TqaTT &
&7 & @317 qgraan/atzast a7 #7 ({97 @1 & Sar 7 G311, qrg-#eHqiT aeae FRT aed
AT GRT 20 faqaw 2019 & 1 G&qr 164-915787 2019 # Tgd 417 #1 75 Fz97idT g7
STFE-FOHIT ST % ATET T2 TETF #1 [[Fa<or STFINars] # @0 [@ada Fagrdar Jreqar &
TRFETAT #1 T2 51 T AT ERF T0AT § FHIT § UF JF1T FT ITHT F9T ST 39 faoredt
STATFTT 2003 #T 17T 65 % Tgd 217 #1 T3 ER% & Taldad Toeq aisae] # &7 § AT
FIGAIT & 17 Fonfda aRF< f[aga S99 #1 aRT 65 § TRFfeTd STHIHT # Zl=5a a7 #1
TITET TZTT #9111

ey 3: s g
T IYTEA FHIAT 3T T qRer Argdaema F forw A Rgia

T ICATE FIAT & [T ISR ARTd oot = & 37efie, fesrett Screq &1 Rt #3 ar
Jatera Hrssmedy afvw ARzt & syrefRre graem=t gy et s g ffaiia i smostn ==
TR TR GorRTa ANTd KSRl TRATSHTE 3T 7% IRFSEret & forw SR & Reaiwor &7 sreme
Epuil

T IATET HIAT o ToIT ATafih SieheoT, T 0T 37T SMefehiahor & e fasteft ScaTad &l
3T e arer y=fora HEemeet e faf{at F sam g

T IeaTed AT ST T T ATgaHATy  forw swor 7 g oo, i uw fed, o
=TS, et qar Striew forear, Frieie 96t 9% s47, o 9% &7 &1 3991, wrEefe g6t & o
ATeT ATt & FEEa #w are gt a2 Bt g et & sored siw Tt & g
T = w2 arer y=fer fgemet 3w iRt & i g g
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22. faaor =g ¥ o s Raia
22.1 == FAfF=t ¥ =0 sream ¥ are F et # [fEe G fgia Bawor sreseam o A g
23,  YSit AW
23.1 HisgaT Geit ferer afaseT & forg s g & fAsferfer anfaer g
F) 1391, 2024 F T2 AR GIRT T AT T TS Goit 07, 1 3181, 2024 Fr FAferaa a2y v e
7) fafaee 24 % s Pt & F gefea ad F oo st g si st i
M) AT 26 F ATH 39 AART ST FH 76 1 07 A1 S [AhiehTor o FHI0 =37
23.2 T TS Uit Frarer TRASET % Ry gsfiva @ § R o 2hr
F) TRATSHT & AT HATAT ol (T2 T TR AT AT ZI T SATHTT 1T AT 7,
@) AW % S ST (ATSSTE) 37 FTeatash soT 1187 u¥ AT efee,
M) = fafEt § [ FAwior F g s () o et & S arwfeas o (eSS E);
=) = fafaaet § A afteraw 32 % oehie i e o,
) %ﬁﬂ;ﬁ?jﬁﬁwﬁaﬁa%&%%mﬁa&%ﬁmaﬁﬁﬁmsﬁiﬁm%w
7]
=) TSt F Uger TRETRET R ITTET Fh IcATad FOAT, TR0 AT i Fawr Ay
T ST ey ot Troteer =7 JHTEe;

) T AT ATIRT ATH FlA I ATSHAETLT T 6T 797 @, ST T e qot ST a7 SR 3T
T T AT 8

) arfertsges araTed St fafer ak ofF 7 For wfer 7 getea el FRwe 3 f9ear & o i amw
T THE, STET o6 Foeegol ST 3 912 SIRT g7 #6367 T 8

Fora T artorsas aR=Te 1 [t o = 72 =wor wier 7 q@efeaa fAeh BffmT == tear & s o
TS ATH AT THATT HAA Yot AR 6 07 Tk 6 (%G THTATSIT il SITUIAT:

FIT o TRATSAT 7 R a9+ ATt TREIIT il SR ARTd, AT ST SUTRT H 751 18 Te

AT STANT § TG AT T SR AT H AT L@l SO

Ford o ATSHHLT ST § ATE ST Lol AAIAT & SO 1o % qHAT § TEqrarsil 9187 T HT|
23.3 ol ST & aT8 SN g7 T 1T 61 T2 IS Td ARTd e & feizor #7 sram a4t

Frdt o Fararagut SIT=r ® orRTa =3 il TeheRTadr =l s, [ it 96e 37 aii aieq
FAIToT F1HT, W97 o 09 4TS, FO SRR T STINRT, AT H g oY T80T | g oY
U 3T AT S ST & i2or o o ST T S99k AT ST 96T g a7 gil

23.4 2w = g o sgafaa v anma o2 f@=m B Sroa s afe 9ot anra § et
AT gf & e waie siferer wam T Smar g, a1 et Si= % ot T gy S99 o=
T ST EFaT &

Ford o AfT aEatas Ioil AT SAqHIed ISt ARG & FH &, a1 ATSHELTd & S & e &
forw areatas Ioit arra 9 fFr=me R stroam)

Ford T STt TarsTelt @dia IHeATar AT Il AT Sl onT THEATAT GSTRTd aTd i SHT T8 FdT 8,
TN ZIRT T 1A ISTNTd AT S o e & forT UHT ST &l &4 § T
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23.5 U ATSHHLT SY fAqer ATHaem™y F T@TIiierd @rdl & e 9% FW & g9 I8 & o0
AT F=Te st (A9 a2 g AT ao AT areatas gSerd 219, ST T faewqer S+ &
T AT AT TR 2

23.6 USTATT ARTA | Fe-3 At d &4 3w efiadr anra & wfaerd & &9 § dSieha iy o
ITTHe BT 9 &, ST fAeforferd AT AT9eet & orefiv 2

F) OO ATEA ST HAE e - 1%
g) IO qE-E9H UF fAaeer ga-veeM (i Fiew) - 4%
M) AT AT (AT Hiiee) - 6%
) FEAr ATdId TR ST TAATSTHT T - 4%
T) A AT OI-EAA (STArSUH) - 5%
) HER A - 3.5%

23.7 AT A HATAT o TIACATIH, TATRIT ST AT AhIH207 AT STae & FAea 92 g | =74, 41
3 areT ATSHEETT ST A ATSHHLTT U AN gt §, 9% g gt Anrd & vy giqerfig
el % E 9o A ferad & arg o= e sroa i fRergEr qoET S st

wfdeuia aREaReEt &1 48 o7 = adiuwg - & - €9

Y]

Stel;

ARy - gfaefoa afiwot=t £ gor 9t anm;

AT - gfaeanfua afiwutt & @&feq @t eage

wfaferfa: - g SosrRr wiaeetia gfiwafat & g&tea TR

Ford Toh TfaeaTae ¥ srarezehar are(t Fhet afaaixr it erfa & forw s 97 s v wfey, afe 2
BT, T8l ST ATea e AT HTa 0T o [olT FHTATSIT T STUIT S 09 197, AT FS g, FT

START Ut wiqeeTta giREaixr i O @R & w7 e 6 forw B s, s BT of
sfaf=r oo Tfer st -2 o & =9 § 9T Srowm

23.8 fAHtor F S AT (FMESTE):

%) 9T & I AT T AOET 0T [t F Faer i [T & 0 F AqET i SO, ST g
"t g fAfer & sl =wor &t e # @ & a1e & s

) atia @Y=t aTe F39 § T F FTOT ATSSIET F LT ATART AW 6 JTHS §, IqTa g1
T I ATSHELTL, AT FT0r ATSEHTT, 6T o G181 81, F7 &9 % Ao qul aoragar afgd
TH qTE T <1 o o7 AT TEdqTasil & a7 faeqd siif=ed Yo Fed il sraedahdl g

Ford foF 7fe 337 % forw Ieumes ot AT aTer ArsaHTey A7 fAawr ArssaaTr, SEr €t qrer
g, e 781 8, o == fafaaet & A 12 # ey affaEa st & wen, Hesge? s+ &
12 =i fAfeT & fEeEmaet Foragar #1 &379 | T@d gu S|l it ST & ST gl gl

23.9 fAwTor ¥ S rwfeus =T (rEEeE):

F) T % I SAReHE AT i ToAT g At § it SIusit sfiw sE=a e 9% -
TATAT GAT &1 AT H @ o 978 i STTOAAT
Ford foh [FHTor stafer & e Hetia Hisist @ ST AT S| 9% o747, I7 TRt e st &
FHTLOT SfoTq FoRet T ToTea T [RHTor 3 ST SR fenes o377 § T & for &7+ & T@T ST 9ehaT 2|

) TR AT ITH FT F L o HI0T ATSS S 6 o HILOT SATAh AR o JIHA H, ITITE HawT
IqT YOO ATSHALT, AT HaCor Areaeemy, SEr @ 98T g1, &7 37 a¢g 6 a0 & o0 agrs
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24,

FEATASIT o AT A =T Teqd HLAT AAAF T, OH a1 Al AT o I SR eHH AT
SIY T o =T AT AT aget TR [giia afq 1 fGawor ariee 2

Ford foh T T o o0 IeqTae =T AT IO ATSHaeT<T A7 FHaeor Arssadr<y, SEr §f /T

g, e 78t 8, & fAaffeme 12 § [ sf==ta st & #wor g, a1 sha Easget s= %

1T ATSSSIHT ol ST &F ST qhel [ &
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JOINT ELECTRICITY REGULATORY COMMISSION
(For the UT of J&K and the UT of Ladakh)
NOTIFICATION
Jammu, the 1st November, 2023

No. JERC-JKL/Reg/2023/13.—In exercise of the powers conferred on it by sub-Section (2) of Section 181
read with Section 36, Section 39, Section 40, Section 41, Section 51, Section 61, Section 62, Section 63, Section 64,
Section 65 and Section 86), of the Electricity Act, 2003 (Act No. 36 of 2003) (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Act’), and
all other powers enabling it in this behalf, the Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission for the UT of Jammu &
Kashmir and the UT of Ladakh hereby makes the following Regulations.

CHAPTER 1: PRELIMINARY
1. Short Title, Commencement and Extent

1.1. These Regulations shall be called the Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission for the UT of Jammu & Kashmir
and the UT of Ladakh (Terms and Conditions for Determination of Multi Year Generation, Transmission,
Distribution Tariff), Regulations, 2023.

1.2. These Regulations shall come into force from the date of their publication in the Official Gazette and shall remain
in force till March 31, 2026, unless otherwise reviewed/extended.

1.3. These Regulations extend to the whole of the UT of Jammu & Kashmir and the UT of Ladakh.
2. Definitions
2.1 In these Regulations, unless the context otherwise requires:

1. “Accounting Statements” shall mean for each Financial Year, the balance sheet, the profit and loss
statement, the cash flow statement, and the report of the statutory auditors together with notes thereto:

Provided that in case of any local authority engaged in the business of distribution of electricity, the
Accounting Statement shall mean the items, as mentioned above, prepared and maintained in accordance
with the relevant Acts or Statutes as applicable to the such local authority;

2. “Act" shall mean the Electricity Act, 2003 (36 of 2003), as amended from time to time;

3. “Aggregate Revenue Requirement” or “ARR" shall mean the annual revenue requirement comprising
of allowable expenses and return on capital pertaining to the Generating Company, Transmission Licensee,
or Distribution Licensee, for recovery through tariff and charges determined by the commission, in
accordance with these Regulations;

4. “Allocation Statement” shall mean for each Financial Year, a statement showing the amounts of any
revenue, cost, asset, liability, reserve or provision, etc. determined by apportionment or allocation between
the Distribution Wires Business and Retail Supply Business of a Distribution Licensee;

5. “Allotted Transmission Capacity” shall mean the power transfer in MW between the specified point(s)
of injection and point(s) of drawal allowed to a Long-term Consumer or a Medium-term Consumer on the
Intra- State transmission system under the normal circumstances and the expression “allotment of
transmission capacity” shall be construed accordingly;

6. “Auxiliary Energy Consumption” or “AUX” in relation to a period in the case of a Generating Station
means the quantum of energy consumed by auxiliary equipment of the Generating Station, such as the
equipment being used for the purpose of operating the plant and machinery including switchyard of the
Generating Station and the transformer losses within the Generating Station, expressed as a percentage of the
sum of gross energy generated at the generator terminals of all the units of the Generating Station:

Provided that Auxiliary Energy Consumption shall not include energy consumed for the supply of
power to the housing colony and other facilities at the Generating Station and the power consumed for
construction works atthe Generating Station;

7. “Applicant” shall mean a Generating Company, Transmission Licensee, or Distribution Licensee who has
made an application for determination of Aggregate Revenue Requirement and tariff in accordance with the
Act and these Regulations and shall include a Generating Company, Transmission Licensee, or Distribution
Licensee whose tariff is being determined by the Commission on Suo-Motu basis;

8. “Area of Supply” shall mean the area within which a Distribution Licensee is authorised by its license to
supply electricity;

9. “Authority” shall mean the Central Electricity Authority referred to in Section 70 of the Act;
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11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.
18.

19.

20.

21,
22,
23.

“Availability” in relation to a transmission system for a given period shall mean the time in hours during the
period the transmission system is capable of transmitting electricity at its rated voltage expressed in
percentage of total hours in the given period,;

“Bank Rate” shall mean the Bank Rate declared by the Reserve Bank of India from time to time;

“Base Year” shall mean the Year immediately preceding the first Year of the Control Period and used for the
purpose of these regulations;

“Bulk Power Transmission Agreement” shall mean an executed Agreement that contains the terms and
conditions under which a Transmission System User is entitled to access the intra-State transmission system
of a Transmission Licensee;

“Change in Law” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events:
(&) Enactment, bringing into effect, or promulgation of any new Indian law: or
(b) Adoption, amendment, modification, repeal, or re-enactment of any existing Indian law: or

(c) Change in interpretation or application of any Indian law by a competent court, Tribunal, or Indian
Governmental Instrumentality, which is the final authority under law for such interpretation or
application: or

(d) Change by any competent statutory authority in any condition or covenant of any consent or clearances
or approval; or Licence available or obtained for the project: or

(e) Corning into force or change in any bilateral or multilateral agreement/treaty between the Government
of India and any other Sovereign Government having implications for the Generating Station or the
transmission system regulated under these Regulations;

“Central Commission” or “CERC” shall mean the Central Electricity Regulatory Commission referred to
in sub-section (1) of Section 76 of the Act;

“Commission” shall mean the Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission for the UT of Jammu & Kashmir
and the UT of Ladakh referred to in Section 83 of the Act;

“Control Period” shall mean the period of two (2) financial Years from April 1, 2024, to March 31, 2026;

“Central Transmission Utility” or” CTU” shall mean any Government company which the Central
Government may notify under sub-section (1) of Section 38 of the Act;

“Cut-off Date” shall mean 31st March of the Year closing after two (2) Years from the Year of commercial

operation of the project, and in case the project is declared under commercial operation in the last quarter of
a year, the Cut-off Date shall be 31st March of the Year closing after three (3) Years from the Year of
commercial operation:

Provided that the “Cut-off Date” may be extended by the Commission if it is proved on the basis of
documentary evidence that the capitalisation could not be made within the Cut-off Date for reasons beyond
the control of the project developer;

“Consumer” shall be any person who is supplied with electricity for his own use by a Licensee or the
Government or by any other person engaged in the business of supplying electricity to the public under this
Act or any other law for the time being in force and includes any person whose premises are for the time
being connected for the purpose of receiving electricity with the works of a Licensee, the Government or
such other person, as the case may be, but shall be restricted to such Consumers within the State;

“Contracted Capacity” shall mean the capacity in MW contracted by a Transmission System User;
“Day” shall mean a day starting at 00.00 hours and ending at 24.00 hours;

“Date of Commercial Operation” or “COD” in case of a transmission system shall mean the date declared

by the Transmission Licensee from 00.00 hours, for which an element of the transmission system is in
regular service after successful trial operation for transmitting electricity, and communication signal from
sending end to receiving end:

Provided that where the transmission line or substation is dedicated for the evacuation of power from a
particular Generating Station, the Generating Company and Transmission Licensee shall endeavor to
commission the Generating Station and the transmission system simultaneously as far as practicable and
shall ensure the same through appropriate Implementation Agreement:

Provided also that in case a transmission system or an element thereof is prevented from regular service for
reasons not attributable to the Transmission Licensee or its supplier or its contractors but is on account of the
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24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.
31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

delay in commissioning of the concerned Generating Station or in commissioning of the upstream or
downstream transmission system, the Transmission Licensee shall approach the Commission through an
appropriate application for approval of the Date of Commercial Operation of the such transmission system
or an element thereof:

Provided further that the Date of Commercial Operation for a Generating Station shall be as defined in the
prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations;

“De-capitalisation” shall mean reduction in Gross Fixed Assets of the project corresponding to the
removal/deletion of assets as approved by the Commission;

“Distribution Business” shall mean the business of operating and maintaining a distribution system for
supplying electricity in the Area of Supply of the Distribution Licensee;

“Distribution Licensee” shall mean a Licensee authorised to operate and maintain a distribution system for
supplying electricity to the Consumers in its Area of Supply;

“Distribution Wires Business” shall mean the business of operating and maintaining a distribution system
for wheeling of electricity in the Area of Supply of the Distribution Licensee;

“Expected Revenue from Tariff and Charges” shall mean the revenue estimated to accrue to the
Generating Company, Transmission Licensee or Distribution Licensee from the regulated business at the
prevailing tariff;

“Electricity Supply Code” shall mean the Electricity Supply Code specified under Section 50 of the Act;
“Existing Project” shall mean a project declared under commercial operation prior to April 1, 2024;

“Force Majeure Event” shall mean, with respect to any party, any event or circumstance; or combination of
events or circumstances including those stated below, which is not within the reasonable control of, and is
not due to an act of omission or commission of that party and which, by the exercise of reasonable care and
diligence, could not have been avoided, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, would include
the following events:

a) An Act of God including lightning, drought, fire and explosion, earthquake, volcanic eruption,
landslide, flood, cyclone, typhoon, tornado, geological surprises, or exceptionally adverse weather
conditions which are in excess of the statistical measures for the last hundred Years: or

b) Any act of war, invasion, armed conflict or act of foreign enemy, blockade, embargo, revolution, riot,
insurrection, terrorist or military action: or

¢) Industry-wide strikes and labour disturbances having a nationwide impact in India;

“FPPAS” shall mean Fuel and Power Purchase Adjustment Surcharge (FPPAS) means the increase in the
cost of power, supplied to consumers, due to a change in Fuel cost, power purchase Page 9 cost and
transmission charges with reference to the cost of supply approved by the State/UT Commission.

“Generation Company” shall mean any company or body corporate or association or body of individuals,
whether incorporated or not, or artificial juridical person, which owns or operates or maintains a Generating
Station and for the purpose of these Regulations, shall exclude a company generating electricity from
renewable sources;

“Generating Station” shall mean any station for generating electricity, including any building and
plant with step-up transformer, switchgear, switch yard, cables, or other appurtenant equipment, if
any, used for that purpose and the site thereof; a site intended to be used for a Generating Station, and
any building used for housing the operating staff of a Generating Station, and where electricity is
generated by water-power, includes penstocks, head, and tail works, main and regulating reservoirs,
dams and other hydraulic works, but does not, in any case, include any sub-station and for the
purpose of these Regulations shall exclude stations generating electricity from renewable sources;

“Grid” shall mean the high voltage backbone system of inter-connected transmission lines, sub-stations, and
generating plants;

“Gross Station Heat Rate” or “GHR” means the heat energy input in kcal required to generate one kWh of
electrical energy at generator terminals of a thermal Generating Station;

“Integrated Utility” means the Departments of Power in the Union Territory of Jammu & Kashmir and the
Union Territory of Ladakh, in its present form or the successor entities performing more than one of the
functions of generation, transmission, and distribution after restructuring thereof;

“Licensed Business” means the functions and activities, which the licensee is required to undertake in terms
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59.

of the license granted by the Commission or being a deemed licensee under the Act;

“Licensee” shall mean a person who has been granted a license under Section 14 of the Act and for the
purpose of these Regulations shall also include an Integrated Utility;

“MCLR?” shall mean One Year Marginal Cost of Funds based Lending Rate;
“Month” shall mean a calendar month as per the British calendar;
“New Project” shall mean a project declared under commercial operation on or after April 1, 2024;

“Non-Tariff Income” shall mean income relating to the Licensed Business other than from tariff, excluding
any income from Other Business and, in case of the Retail Supply Business of a Distribution Licensee,
excluding income from wheeling and receipts on account of Cross-Subsidy Surcharge and Additional
Surcharge on charges of wheeling;

“QOperation and Maintenance expenses” or “O&M expenses” in relation to a Generating Company,
Transmission Licensee or Distribution Licensee shall mean the expenditure incurred on operation and
maintenance of the system by the Generating Company, Transmission Licensee or Distribution Licensee,
and includes the expenditure on manpower, repairs, spares, consumables, insurance and overheads etc.;

“Original Project Cost” means the capital expenditure incurred by the Generating Company or the
Transmission Licensee or the Distribution Licensee, as the case may be, within the original scope of the
project up to the Cut-off Date as admitted by the Commission;

“Other Business” means any other business of the distribution licensee for optimum utilisation of its assets
within the meaning of Section 51 of the Act;

“Prudence Check” shall mean scrutiny of the reasonableness of expenditure incurred or proposed to be
incurred, financing plan, use of efficient technology, cost and time over-run and such other factors as may be
considered appropriate by the Commission for determination of tariff;

“Rated Voltage” shall mean the manufacturer's design voltage at which the transmission system is designed
to operate or such lower voltage at which the line is charged, for the time being, in consultation with
Transmission System Users;

“Retail Supply Business” means the business of sale of electricity by a distribution licensee to the
consumers within the area of supply in accordance with the terms of the licence for distribution and retail
supply of electricity.

“State” shall mean the Union Territory of Jammu & Kashmir and the Union Territory of Ladakh.;

“State Grid Code” shall mean the Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission for the UT of J&K and the UT
of Ladakh (State Grid Code), Regulations 2023 specified by the Commission under Clause (h) of sub-
section (1) of Section 86 of the Act;

“State Load Despatch Centre” or “SLDC” shall mean the Centre established under sub-section (1) of
Section 31 of the Act;

“Transmission Licensee” shall mean a Licensee authorized to establish or operate transmission lines;

“Transmission System User” shall mean the Distribution Licensee or Open Access User, as the case may
be, who uses the intra-State transmission network for the purpose of transmission of electricity;

“Useful life” in relation to a unit of a Generating Station/Unit, Transmission System, and Distribution
System from the Date of Commercial Operation shall be as defined in Appendix | to these Regulations;

“Wheeling” means the operation whereby the distribution system and associated facilities of a distribution
license are used by another person for the conveyance of electricity on payment of charges to be determined
under section 62, or under section 42(2);

“Wheeling Business' means the business of operating and maintaining a distribution system for the
conveyance of electricity in the area of supply of the distribution licensee.”

“Working Day” shall mean a Day on which banks are open for business;

“Year” or “Financial Year” shall mean a Financial Year (FY), beginning from 1% April of calendar Year
and ending on 31% March of the next calendar Year.

2.2 Words and expressions occurring in these Regulations and not defined herein but defined in the Act or applicable
(Grid Code) Regulations or prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations shall bear the same meanings as respectively
assigned to them in the Act or Grid Code or prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations and the words and expressions
used herein but not specifically defined herein or in the Act or Grid Code or State Grid Code or prevalent CERC
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2.3

3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

Tariff Regulations shall have the meanings generally assigned to them in the electricity industry.
In the interpretation of these Regulations, unless the context otherwise requires:

a) Words in the singular or plural term, as the case may be, shall also be deemed to include the plural or the
singular term, respectively;

b) The terms "include” or "including” shall be deemed to be followed by "but not limited to" regardless of
whether such terms are followed by such phrases or words of like import;

c) References herein to the "Regulations” shall be construed as a reference to these Regulations or as may be
amended or modified by the Commission from time to time in accordance with the applicable laws in force;

d) The headings within the Regulations are inserted for convenience and be read together with the text below
for the purpose of interpretation of these Regulations;

e) References to the Statutes, Regulations or guidelines shall be construed as including all statutory provisions
consolidating, amending, or replacing such Statutes, Regulations, or guidelines, as the case may be, referred
to;

f) In case of inconsistency between any provision of these Regulations and any other Regulations or Orders
passed by the Commission, the provisions of these Regulations shall prevail.

g) The words "Application™ or "Petition” shall be interpreted synonymously.

Scope of Regulation and extent of application

. The Commission shall determine tariff within the Multi-Year Tariff framework, for all matters for which the

Commission has jurisdiction under the Act, including in the following cases:
a) Supply of electricity by a Generating Company to a Distribution Licensee:

Provided that where a shortage of supply of electricity exists, it may fix the minimum and maximum ceiling
of tariff for the sale or purchase of electricity in pursuance of an agreement, entered into between a
Generating Company and a Distribution Licensee or between Distribution Licensees, for a period not
exceeding one year to ensure reasonable prices of electricity;

b) Intra-State transmission of electricity;
¢) Intra-State wheeling of electricity;
d) Retail supply of electricity:

Provided that in case of distribution of electricity in the same area by two or more Distribution Licensees, the
Commission may, for promoting competition among Distribution Licensees, fix only the maximum ceiling of
tariff for retail sale of electricity:

Provided further that where the Commission has allowed Open Access to certain Consumers under sub- section
(2) of Section 42 of the Act, such Consumers, notwithstanding the provisions of clause (d) of sub- section (1) of
Section 62 of the Act, may enter into an agreement with any person for supply or purchase of electricity on such
terms and conditions (including tariff) as may be agreed between them. Such Open Access shall be regulated by
provisions of prevalent Open Access Regulations as amended from time to time.

These Regulations shall not apply for the determination of tariff in case of the following:

a) Generating Stations and Transmission Systems whose tariff has been discovered through a transparent
process of competitive bidding in accordance with the competitive bidding guidelines notified by the Central
Government and adopted by the Commission under Section 63 of the Act.

b) Generating stations of renewable sources of energy, which shall be governed by prevalent Renewable Energy
Tariff Regulations as amended from time to time or any subsequent enactment thereof.

In accordance with the principles laid out in Regulation 51, Regulation 52, and Regulation 60, the Commission
shall determine Aggregate Revenue Requirement for:

a)  Distribution Wires Business; and
b)  Retail SupplyBusiness.

The Distribution Licensee shall file an application containing separate details for the determination of Aggregate
Revenue Requirement for the Distribution Wires Business and Retail Supply Business, in accordance with
Regulation 51 specified in these Regulations.

The wheeling charges shall be based on the Aggregate Revenue Requirement determined for the Distribution
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3.6.

3.7.

3.8.

5.2.

Wires Business.

The Retail Supply tariff for the retail sale of electricity shall be based on the Aggregate Revenue Requirement
determined for the Retail Supply Business.

The Commission shall also determine Cross-Subsidy Surcharge in addition to the charges for wheeling under the
first proviso to sub-section (2) of Section 42 of the Act, in accordance with prevalent Open Access Regulations,
as amended from time to time.

The Commission shall also determine Additional Surcharge under sub-section (4) of Section 42 of the Act, in
accordance with prevalent Open Access Regulations as amended from time to time.

Norms of operation to be ceiling norms

For removal of doubts, it is clarified that the norms of operation specified under these Regulations are the
ceiling norms and this shall not preclude the Transmission Licensee or the Distribution Licensee, as the
case may be, and the beneficiaries from accepting improved norms of operation as determined by the
Commission and such improved norms shall be applicable for the determination of tariff.

CHAPTER 2: GENERAL PRINCIPLES
Guiding Principles for MYT Framework

. The Commission shall determine the tariff for matters covered under clauses (), (b), (c) and (d) of Regulation

3.1, under a Multi-Year Tariff framework with effect from April 1, 2024.

The Multi Year Tariff framework for determination of Aggregate Revenue Requirement and Expected
Revenue from Tariff and Charges for Generating Company, Transmission Licensee, Distribution Wires
Business and Retail Supply Business shall include the following:

a) Business Plan for the Licensee, for the entire Control Period as submitted to the Commission for approval,
prior to the start of the Control Period:;

b) A detailed Multi-Year tariff application comprising of the year-wise forecast of Aggregate Revenue
Requirement for the entire Control Period and determination of Expected Revenue from Tariff and Charges
for the first Year of the Control Period submitted by the Applicant, in formats specified by the Commission
from time to time:

Provided that the performance parameters, whose trajectories have been specified in these Regulations or the
Business Plan or the Multi-Year Tariff Order approved by the Commission, shall form the basis for the
projection of these performance parameters in the Aggregate Revenue Requirement for the entire Control
Period:

c) Determination of year-wise Aggregate Revenue Requirement by the Commission for the entire Control
Period and the tariff for the first Year of the Control Period for the Generating Company, Transmission
Licensee, Distribution Wires Business, and Retail Supply Business;

d) Annual review of performance which shall be conducted vis-a-vis the approved forecast and categorization of
variations in performance into controllable and uncontrollable factors;

e) Annual determination of tariff for the Generating Company, Transmission Licensee, Distribution Wires
Business, and Retail Supply Business, for each Financial Year within the Control Period, based on the
approved forecast, the annual performance review, and truing up exercise;

f)  Truing up of previous Year/(s) expenses and revenue by the Commission based on audited accounts vis- a-vis
the approved forecast and categorization of variation in performance as those caused by factors within the
control of the Applicant (controllable factors) and those caused by factors beyond the control of the Applicant
(uncontrollable factors);

g) The mechanism for pass-through of approved gains or losses on account of uncontrollable factors as specified
by the Commission in these Regulations;

h) The mechanism for sharing of approved gains or losses on account of controllable factors as specified by the
Commission in these Regulations.

Values for Base Year

The values for the Base Year of the Control Period shall be determined on the basis of the audited accounts or
provisional accounts of last three (3) Years, and other factors considered relevant by the Commission;

Provided that, in absence of the availability of audited accounts or provisional accounts of last three (3) Years,
the Commission may benchmark the parameters with other similar utilities to establish the values for Base Year:
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6.2

8.2

8.3

8.4

Provided further that the Commission may change the values for Base Year and consequently the trajectory of
parameters for Control Period, considering the actual figures from audited accounts.

The Commission may revisit the performance targets for the Control Period during Annual Performance Review,
carried out in accordance with the proviso to Regulation 5.2 (d).

Segregation of Retail Supply and Distribution Wires Business

The Distribution Licensee shall segregate the accounts of the Licensed Business into Distribution Wires Business
and Retail Supply Business. The ARR for Distribution Wires Business shall be used to determine wheeling
charges. The ARR for Retail Supply Business, which shall include the ARR for Distribution Wires Business, in
accordance with Regulation 58, shall be used to determine retail supply tariff.

For such period until accounts are segregated, the Licensees shall use the Allocation Statement provided in
Regulation 49.1 to apportion costs and revenues to respective businesses.

Business Plan

The Generation Company, Transmission Licensee, and Distribution Licensee, shall file the Business plan as a
part of Multi-Year tariff application, in accordance with regulation 9.1, as per the prevalent Joint Electricity
Regulatory Commission for the UT of J&K and the UT of Ladakh (Conduct of Business) Regulations 2022, as
amended from time to time. A Business Plan for the entire Control Period (i.e. April 1, 2024, to March 31, 2026),
duly approved by the competent authority shall be submitted by 30" November of the year prior to the
commencement of the Control Period:

Provided that in case the Commission issues guidelines and formats from time to time, the same shall be adhered
to by the Generation Company, Transmission Licensee, and Distribution Licensee.

The Business Plan filed by the Generation Company shall inter-alia contain;

a) Capital investment plan, which shall include details of the investments planned by the Generating Company
for existing stations along with its cost-benefit analysis, yearly phasing of capital expenditure along with the
source of funding, financing plan, and corresponding capitalisation schedule. This plan shall be
commensurate with R&M schemes and proposed efficiency improvements for various plants of the company;

b) The capital investment plan shall show separately, ongoing projects that will spill over into the years under
review, and new projects (along with justification) that will commence in the years under review but may be
completed within or beyond the tariff period;

c) The Generating Company shall submit plant-wise details of the capital structure and cost of financing
(interest on debt and return on equity), after considering the existing market conditions, terms of the existing
loan agreements, risks associated with generation business and creditworthiness;

d) Details related to major shutdown of machines, if any;

e) Trajectory of performance parameters;

The Business Plan filed by the Transmission Licensee shall inter-alia contain:
a) Projections for the growth of load in the transmission network;

b) Capital Investment Plan for each Year of the Control Period commensurate with load growth, transmission
loss reduction trajectory, and quality improvement measures proposed in the Business Plan in accordance
with Regulation 8.5;

c) Capital structure of each scheme proposed and the cost of financing (interest on debt and return on equity),
terms of the existing loan agreements, etc.;

d) Performance targets items such as transmission loss, availability of transmission system, transformer failure
rate, and any other parameters for quality of supply for each year of the Control Period, consistent with the
Capital Investment Plan proposed by the Transmission Licenseg;

e) Projections for the number of employees during each Year of the Control Period based on proposed
recruitments and retirement;

f) Proposals in respect of income from Other Businesses for each Year of the Control Period.

The Business Plan filed by the Distribution Licensee for the Control Period shall comprise of but not be limited
to the following:

a) Capital Investment Plan for each Year of the Control Period commensurate with load growth, distribution
loss reduction trajectory, and quality improvement measures proposed in the Business Plan in accordance
with Regulation 8.5;
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8.5

b)

d)

€)

f)

9)

Capital Structure of each scheme proposed and the cost of financing (interest on debt and return on equity),
terms of the existing loan agreements, etc.;

Sales Forecast for each Consumer category and sub-categories for each Year of the Control Period in
accordance with Regulation 8.6;

Power Procurement Plan based on the Sales Forecast and distribution loss trajectory for each Year of the
Control Period in accordance with Regulation 8.8;

Targets for distribution loss for each Year of the Control Period consistent with the Capital Investment Plan
proposed by the Licensee;

Projections for the number of employees during each Year of the Control Period based on proposed
recruitments and retirement;

Proposals in respect of income from Other Businesses for each Year of the Control Period.

Capital Investment Plan

a)

b)

c)

d)

€)

The Capital Investment Plan to be submitted as part of the Business Plan shall show separately, ongoing
projects that will spill into the financial year under review and new projects (along with justification) that
will commence but may be completed within or beyond the tariff period for the purpose of investment,
Capital Structure, implementation schedule, quarter-wise capital expenditure and capitalization schedule,
financing plan, cost-benefit analysis, improvement in operational efficiency envisaged in the Control Period
owing to proposed investment and such details for ongoing projects that will spill over into the Control
Period under review along with justification;

The Capital Investment Plan proposed by the Transmission Licensee shall be in conformity with the plans
made by the Authority/Central Transmission Utility and with the Capital Investment Plan of the Distribution
Licensee;

During the Annual Performance Review, the Commission shall monitor the progress of the actual capital
expenditure incurred by the Licensee vis-a-vis the approved capital expenditure. The Licensees shall submit
the actual capital expenditure incurred along with the annual performance review, true-up, and determination
of tariff filing;

In case, during the Annual Performance Review, the cumulative (starting from the first Year of the Control
Period up to the current Year) actual capital expenditure incurred is less than 50% of the cumulative
approved capital expenditure, the Commission shall true-up the ARR elements relevant to actual capital
expenditure in the current Year and remaining Years of the Control Period;

In case the capital expenditure is required for emergency work which has not been approved in the Capital
Investment Plan, the Licensee shall submit an application containing all relevant information along with
reasons justifying the emergency nature of the proposed work seeking approval of the Commission:

Provided that in case capital expenditure is required for emergency work or unforeseen situations to mitigate
the threat to life and property and if prior intimation thereof to the Commission shall cause any irreparable
loss or injury, the Licensee may undertake that capital expenditure and submit the details along with adequate
justification for ex post facto approval of the Commission:

Provided further that for the purpose of Regulation 8.5(e) above, such approved capital expenditure shall be
treated as a part of both the actual capital expenditure incurred by the Licensee and approved capital
expenditure by the Commission;

The Licensee shall submit a report for every quarter detailing the progress of the capital expenditure and
capitalization undertaken against that proposed in the Capital Investment Plan, on or before the last Day of
the month succeeding the respective quarter for review by the Commission.

8.6 Sales Forecast

8.6

The sales Forecast shall be done as per the provisions of the prevalent Power Purchase and Procurement Process
Regulations.

Treatment of Distribution Loss

The power purchase requirement of the Distribution Licensee at the Transmission-Distribution interface point,
shall be computed by grossing up the sales with the distribution losses approved by the Commission:

Provided that the Commission may stipulate the target distribution losses in accordance with Regulation 17 as
part of the Order on Business Plan:
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Provided further that the Distribution Licensee shall submit the details of area-wise distribution losses viz.
Circles/Divisions/Distribution Centres for the relevant years, in accordance with the formats prescribed by the
Commission:

Provided also that the area-wise distribution losses shall separately indicate the distribution losses in each
Distribution Franchisee area within its License area, for the relevant years, if applicable.

8.8 Power Procurement Plan

The Distribution Licensee shall prepare a plan for procurement of power shall be done as per the provisions of
the prevalent Power Purchase and Procurement Process Regulations.

Provided further that such power procurement plan may include long-term, medium-term and short- term
sources of power procurement, in accordance with these Regulations;

9. Multi-Year Tariff Application

9.1 The applicant along with the Business Plan, submit the forecast of Aggregate Revenue Requirement and
expected revenue from the tariff, for the Control Period by way of a Petition in accordance with the prevalent,
Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission for the UT of J&K and the UT of Ladakh (Conduct of Business)
Regulations 2022, by 30th November of the year prior to the commencement of the Control Period and
accompanied by such fee payable, as specified in the prevalent Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission for the
UT of J&K and the UT of Ladakh ( Fees, Fines, and Charges ) Regulations, 2022.

9.2 Provided that the application shall also be accompanied by the true-up Petition based on the latest available
audited accounts and the annual performance review for the current Year based on the actual performance during
the first six Months of the Year and estimates for the subsequent six Months. Applicant shall develop the forecast
of Aggregate Revenue Requirement using the assumptions relating to the behaviour of individual variables that
comprise the Aggregate Revenue Requirement during each year of the Control Period, including inter-alia
detailed category-wise sales and demand projections, power procurement plan, Capital Investment Plan,
trajectories of parameters specified in these Regulations and Business Plan, in accordance with guidelines and
formats, as may be specified by the Commission from time to time.

9.3 The Applicant shall develop the forecast of Expected Revenue from Tariff and Charges based on the following:

a) In the case of a Generating Company, estimates of the quantum of electricity to be generated by each unit/
station for ensuing Financial Year within the Control Period;

b) In the case of a Transmission Licensee, estimates of the transmission capacity allocated to Transmission
System Users for ensuing Financial Year within the Control Period;

¢) In the case of a Distribution Licensee, estimates of the quantum of electricity to be supplied to Consumers
and to be wheeled on behalf of distribution system users for the ensuing Financial Year within the Control
Period;

d) Prevailing tariff as on the date of making the application.

9.4 Based on the forecast of Aggregate Revenue Requirement for the first Year of the Control Period and Expected
Revenue from Tariff and Charges, the Generating Company, Transmission Licensee and Distribution Licensee
for the Distribution Wires Business and Retail Supply Business, shall propose the tariff for the first Year of
Control Period:

Provided that the tariff proposed by Distribution Licensee shall be in accordance with “Section 62 of the Act and
these Regulations.

9.5 The Applicant shall provide full details supporting the forecast, including but not limited to details of past
performance, proposed initiatives for achieving efficiency or productivity gains, technical studies, contractual
arrangements and/ or secondary research, to enable the Commission to assess the reasonableness of the forecast.

9.6 On receipt of the application, the Commission shall either:

a) Issue an Order approving the Aggregate Revenue Requirement for the entire Control Period and the tariff for
the first Year of the Control Period; or

b) Reject the application for reasons to be recorded in writing, as the Commission may deem appropriate:

Provided that the Applicant shall be given a reasonable opportunity of being heard before rejecting its
application.
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10. Trajectory for Specific Variables

10.1 The Commission, while approving the Business Plan and/ or Multi Year Tariff Petition, may stipulate a
trajectory for certain variables, including but not limited to Auxiliary consumption, Station Heat Rate, O&M
expenses, distribution losses etc.;

Provided that the utilities shall adhere to the norms as specified in the Order on Multi Year tariff petition;

10.2 The trajectory stipulated by the Commission in the Order approving the Business Plan submitted by the
applicant, shall be incorporated by the applicant in its forecast of Aggregate Revenue Requirement and/or
expected revenue from tariff and charges.

10.3 The Commission shall specify the yearly AT&C loss reduction trajectory for the control period with due regard
to the AT&C loss approved in the True Up of the previous control period. The yearly AT&C loss trajectory for
the control period shall not be changed/ modified, other than under exceptional conditions approved by the
Commission.

11. Annual Performance Review, Truing-up and tariff determination during the Control Period

11.1 The Generating Company, Transmission Licensee and Distribution Licensee shall file an application for the
annual performance review of the current year, truing up of the previous Year or the Year for which the audited
accounts are available and determination of tariff for each of the ensuing Years on or before 30th November of
each year, in formats specified by the Commission from time to time:

Provided that the Generating Company, Transmission Licensee, or Distribution Licensee, as the case may be,
shall submit to the Commission information in such form as may be specified by the Commission, together with
the audited accounts, extracts of books of account and such other details as the Commission may require to assess
the reasons for and extent of any variation in financial performance from the approved forecast of Aggregate
Revenue Requirement and Expected Revenue from Tariff and Charges;

11.2 The scope of the annual performance review, truing up, and tariff determination shall be a comparison of the
performance of the Generating Company, Transmission Licensee, or Distribution Licensee with the approved
forecast of Aggregate Revenue Requirement and Expected Revenue from Tariff and Charges and shall comprise
of the following:

a) True-up: a comparison of the audited performance of the Applicant for the Financial Year for which the
true-up is being carried out with the approved forecast for such previous Financial Year, subject to the
prudence check;

b) Annual Performance Review: a comparison of the revised performance targets of the Applicant for the
current Financial Year with the approved forecast in the Tariff Order corresponding to the Control Period for
the current Financial Year subject to prudence check;

c) Tariff determination for the ensuing Year of the Control Period based on the revised forecast of the
Aggregate Revenue Requirement for the Year;

d) Review of compliance with directives issued by the Commission from time to time;
e) Other relevant details, if any

11.3 Upon completion of the exercise, the Commission shall attribute any variations or expected variations in
performance for variables specified under Regulation 12, to factors within the control of the Applicant
(controllable factors) or to factors beyond the control of the Applicant (uncontrollable factors):

Provided that any variations or expected variations in performance, for variables other than those specified under
Regulation 12 below shall be attributed entirely to controllable factors.

11.4 Upon completion of the exercise, the Commission shall pass an order recording.

a) Components of approved cost pertaining to the uncontrollable factors, which were not recovered during the
previous year, to be passed through in tariff as per Regulation 13 of these Regulations:

Provided that, for a Generating Company, the above exercise shall be in accordance with prevalent CERC
Tariff Regulations.

b) Approved aggregate gain or loss to the Transmission Licensee or Distribution Licensee on account of
controllable factors, and the amount of such gains or such losses that may be shared in accordance with
Regulation 14 of these Regulations:

Provided that, for a Generating Company, the above exercise shall be in accordance with prevalent CERC
Tariff Regulations.
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c)

d)

Carrying cost shall be allowed for a Generating Company, Transmission Licensee, or Distribution Licensee
on the amount of revenue gap for the period from the date on which such gap has become due, i.e., from the
end of the Year for which true-up has been done, till the end of the Year in which it is addressed, on the basis
of actual rate of loan taken by the Licensee to fund the deficit in revenue:

Provided that carrying cost on the amount of revenue gap shall be allowed subject to prudence check and
submission of documentary evidence for having incurred the carrying cost in the years prior to the year in
which the revenue gap is addressed:

Provided also that if no loan has been taken to fund revenue deficit, the Commission shall allow Carrying
Cost on a simple interest basis at one (1) Year State Bank of India (SBI) MCLR /any replacement thereof as
notified by RBI for the time being in effect applicable for 1 Year period, as may be, applicable as on 1st April
of the relevant Year plus 100 basis points;

Provided further that in case of revenue surplus, the Commission shall charge the Licensee a Carrying Cost
from the date on which such surplus has become due, i.e., from the end of the Year for which true- up has
been done, till the end of the Year in which it is addressed on simple interest basis at one (1) Year State Bank
of India (SBI) MCLR / any replacement thereof as notified by RBI for the time being in effect applicable for
1 Year period, as may be, applicable as on 1% April of the relevant Year plus 100 basis points.

Revision of estimates and tariff for the ensuing Financial Year.

12. Uncontrollable and Controllable factors

12.1 For the purpose of these Regulations, the term "uncontrollable factors” for a Transmission or Distribution
Licensee shall comprise of the following factors, which were beyond the control of the Licensee, and could not
be mitigated by the Licensee:

a)
b)

c)
d)

€)

f)

9
h)

)
k)

Force Majeure events;

Change in Law, judicial pronouncements and Orders of the Central Government, State Government or
Commission;

Variation in the number or mix of Consumers or quantities of electricity supplied to Consumers;
Inter-state and Intra-State Transmission losses;

Variation in the cost of power purchase due to variation in the rate of power purchase from approved sources,
subject to clauses in the power purchase agreement or arrangement approved by the Commission;

Inflation;
Transmission Charges for a Distribution Licensee;
Variation in market interest rates for long-term loans;

Employee expenses limited to one-time payment owing requirements of a pay commission and terminal
liability of employees;

Taxes and Statutory levies;
Taxes on income;
Income from the realisation of bad debts written off:

Provided that where the Applicant believes, for any variable not specified above, that there is a material
variation or expected variation in performance for any Financial Year on account of uncontrollable factors,
such Applicant may apply to the Commission for inclusion of such variable at the Commission's discretion,
under this Regulation for such Financial Year:

Provided further that the uncontrollable factors for a Generating Company shall be as specified in the
prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations.

12.2 For the purpose of these Regulations, the term “controllable factors” for a Transmission or Distribution Licensee
shall comprise of the factors which were within the control of the Licensee, shall inter-alia include:

a)

b)

Variations in capitalisation on account of time and/or cost overruns/ efficiencies in the implementation of a
capital expenditure project not attributable to an approved change in scope of such project, change in
statutory levies or force majeure events;

Variation in Interest and Finance Charges, Return on Equity, and Depreciation and Working capital
requirements on account of variation in capitalisation, as specified in clause (a) above;
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c) Variations in Aggregate Technical and Commercial (AT&C) losses of Distribution Licensee in accordance
with CEA Guidelines for computation of AT&C Loss. The detailed methodology for computation of AT&C
loss has been indicated at Appendix-11 to these regulations;

d) Distribution Losses which is measured as the difference between total energy input for sale to all its
consumers and sum of the total energy billed in its license area in the same year;

e) Availability of transmission system;

f) Failure to meet the standards specified in the prevalent Standard of Performance for Distribution Licensees
Regulation, as amended from time to time;

g) Variations in labour productivity;

h) Variation in O&M Expenses, except to the extent of inflation;

i) Bad debts written off, in accordance with the provisions of Regulation 65:
J) Variations in Wires Availability and Supply Availability.

Provided further that the controllable factors for a Generating Company shall be as specified in the prevalent
CERC Tariff Regulations.

13. Mechanism for pass through of gains or losses on account of uncontrollable factors

13.1 Approved aggregate gain or loss to the Transmission Licensee or Distribution Licensee on account of
uncontrollable factors shall be pass-through as an adjustment in the tariff of the Transmission Licensee or
Distribution Licensee over such period as may be specified in the Order of the Commission passed under these
Regulations:

Provided that the mechanism for pass through of gains or losses on account of uncontrollable factors for a
Generating Company shall be as specified in the prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations.

13.2 The Transmission Licensee or Distribution Licensee shall submit such details of the variation between expenses
incurred and revenue earned and the figures approved by the Commission, in the specified format to the
Commission, along with the detailed computations and supporting documents as may be required for verification
by the Commission.

14. Mechanism for sharing of gains or losses on account of controllable factors

14.1 The approved aggregate gain to the Transmission Licensee or Distribution Licensee on account of controllable
factors must be shared in following manner: -

a) Two-third of the amount of such gain shall be passed on as a rebate in tariff over such period as may be
stipulated in the Order of the Commission;

b) The balance amount, which will amount to one--third of such gain, may be utilised at the discretion of the
Distribution Licensee

Provided that the mechanism for sharing of gains or losses on account of controllable factors for a Generating
Company shall be as specified in the prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations.

14.2 The approved aggregate loss, if any to the Transmission Licensee or Distribution Licensee on account of
controllable factors shall be shall be dealt in the following manner:

a) One-third of the amount of such loss shall be passed on as an additional charge in tariff over such period as
may be stipulated in the Order of the Commission; and

b) The balance amount, which will amount to two-third of such loss, shall be absorbed by the Licensee.

14.3 The gain or loss on account of other controllable factors, unless otherwise specifically provided by the
Commission shall be to the account of the Transmission or Distribution Licensee.

15. Determination of Tariff

15.1 The proceedings to be held by the Commission for the determination of tariff shall be in accordance with the
prevalent Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission for the UT of J&K and the UT of Ladakh (Conduct of
Business) Regulations 2022, as amended from time to time.

15.2 Notwithstanding anything contained in these Regulations, the Commission shall at all times have the authority,
either on Suo-Motu basis or on a Petition filed by the Generating Company, Transmission Licensee or
Distribution Licensee, to determine the tariff, including terms and conditions thereof:
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Provided that such determination of tariff may be pursuant to an agreement or arrangement or otherwise whether
or not previously approved by the Commission and entered into at any time before or after the applicability of
these Regulations.

15.3 Notwithstanding anything contained in these Regulations, the Commission shall adopt the tariff, if such tariff has
been determined through a transparent process of bidding in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Central
Government:

Provided that the Applicant shall provide such information as the Commission may require for satisfying itself
that the guidelines issued by the Central Government in this regard have been duly followed.

15.4 Determination of Tariff for an existing Generation Station:

a) Where the Commission has, at any time prior to the date of effectiveness of these Regulations, approved a
power purchase agreement or arrangement between a Generating Company and a Distribution Licensee or
has adopted the tariff contained therein for supply of electricity from an existing generating unit/station, the
tariff for supply of electricity by the Generating Company to the Distribution Licensee shall be in
accordance with tariff mentioned in such power purchase agreement or arrangement for such period as may
be so approved or adopted by the Commission;

b) Where, as on the date of effectiveness of these Regulations, the power purchase agreement or arrangement
between a Generating Company and a Distribution Licensee for supply of electricity from an existing
Generating Station has not been approved by the Commission or the tariff contained therein has not been
adopted by the Commission or where there is no power purchase agreement or arrangement, the supply of
electricity by such Generating Company to such Distribution Licensee after the date of effectiveness of these
Regulations shall be in accordance with a power purchase agreement approved by the Commission:

Provided that an application for approval of such power purchase agreement or arrangement shall be made
by the Distribution Licensee to the Commission within a period of three (3) months from the date of
notification of these Regulations:

Provided further that the supply of electricity shall be allowed to continue under the present agreement or
arrangement, as the case may be, until such time as the Commission approves of such power purchase
agreement and shall be discontinued forthwith if the Commission rejects, for reasons recorded in writing,
such power purchase agreement or arrangement.

15.5 Determination of Tariff for a new Generating Station:

a) The tariff for the supply of electricity by a Generating Company to a Distribution Licensee from a new
generating unit/station shall be in accordance with the tariff as per the power purchase agreement approved
by the Commission.

15.6 Determination of Tariff for Transmission, Distribution Wires Business and Retail Supply Business:

a) The Commission shall, based on an application made by the Transmission or Distribution Licensees in
accordance with the Regulations 16 determine the tariff for:

(i). Transmission of electricity, in accordance with the terms and conditions contained in Chapter 5 of these
Regulations;

(ii). Distribution Wires Business, in accordance with the terms and conditions contained in Chapter 6 of
these Regulations; and

(iii). Retail Supply Business, in accordance with the terms and conditions contained in Chapter 7 of these
Regulations.

16. Filing Procedure

16.1 An application for approval of the Business Plan shall be made by 30th November of the year prior to the
commencement of the Control Period, in accordance with the prevalent Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission
for the UT of J&K and the UT of Ladakh (Conduct of Business) Regulations 2022, and accompanied by a such
fee payable, as specified in the prevalent Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission for the UT of J&K and the UT
of Ladakh (Fees, Fines, and Charges) Regulations 2022.

Provided that where no separate fees have been specified for filing of a Business Plan, the applicant shall pay
fees as may be applicable for filing miscellaneous applications.

16.2 An application for determination of tariff shall be made by 30th November every year, in such form and in such
manner as specified in this Regulation and accompanied by such fees as may be specified under the Commission.
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16.3

16.4

16.5

16.6

16.7
16.8

16.9

The proceedings to be held by the Commission for the determination of tariff shall be in accordance with the
prevalent Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission for the UT of J&K and the UT of Ladakh (Conduct of
Business) Regulations 2022, as amended from time to time.

The Applicant shall provide, as part of its Petition to the Commission, in such formats as specified by the
Commission from time to time, full details of its calculation of the Aggregate Revenue Requirement and
Expected Revenue from Tariff and Charges, and thereafter, shall furnish such further information or particulars
or documents as the Commission may reasonably require to assess such calculation;

Provided that the Petition shall be accompanied by, where relevant, tariff and charges revision proposal
showing category-wise tariff for recovery of Aggregate Revenue Requirement for the respective Year of the
Control Period:

Provided further that the Commission may specify additional/alternative formats for details to be submitted by
the Applicant, from time to time, as it may reasonably require for assessing the Aggregate Revenue
Requirement and for determining the tariff.

Provided further that the information for the previous year shall be based on audited accounts and the same
should be filed along with audited accounts for the previous year:

The Generating Company or Transmission Licensee or Distribution Licensee shall, along with the aforesaid
petition, submit a statement on the status of compliance of directives, if any, issued by the Commission in its
previous tariff order.

The petition for determination of tariff shall include the details of actual subsidy received from the State
Government vis-a-vis claimed by the Distribution Licensee and the true-up petition for the previous year:

The Petition shall be supported by an affidavit of the person acquainted with the facts stated in the application.

Upon receipt of a complete Petition accompanied by all requisite information, particulars and documents in
compliance with all the requirements specified in these Regulations, the Petition shall be deemed to be
received and the Commission shall intimate to the Applicant regarding the acceptance of Petition.

The Commission may seek clarifications and additional information on inadequacies in the application, if any,
within 14 (fourteen) days of filing the application for approval of the Business Plan and application for
determination of tariff, as the case may be.

16.10 The Generating Company or Transmission Licensee or Distribution Licensee shall respond within the next 10

(ten) days to the Commission with all clarification and information as required.

16.11 The Applicant shall, within seven (7) Days after acceptance of the Petition by the Commission, publish a notice

of its Petition in at least two English and two Vernacular languages daily newspapers having wide circulation
in the relevant area:

Provided that the Applicant shall make available a hard copy of the complete Petition to any person, at such
locations and at such rates as may be stipulated by the Commission:

Provided also that the Applicant shall also provide on its internet website, in text searchable format or in
downloadable spreadsheet format furnishing detailed computations, the Petition filed before the Commission
along with all regulatory filings, information, particulars and documents in the manner stipulated by the
Commission:

Provided also that the web link to such information mentioned shall be easily accessible, archived for
downloading and be prominently displayed on the Applicant's internet website:

Provided further that the Applicant may be exempted by the Commission from providing any such
information, particulars, or documents, which are confidential in nature.

16.12 The suggestions and objections, if any, on the proposal for determination of tariff, may be filed before the

Secretary, Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission for the UT of J&K and the UT of Ladakh, by any person
within the timeline specified in the notice so published, with a copy to the Applicant.

16.13 The Applicant shall within seven (7) days from the date of publication of the notice as aforesaid, submit to the

Commission on affidavit the details of the notice published and shall also file copies of the newspapers
wherein the notice has been published.

16.14 The Applicant shall file its comments on the suggestions and objections, if any, received in response to its

application within the time limit specified by the Commission.
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16.15 Notwithstanding anything contained in these Regulations, in case of delay/ non-submission of the application
for approval of the Business Plan and application for determination of tariff, as the case may be, the
Commission may initiate Suo-Motu proceedings for the determination of Tariff as feel appropriate.

Provided that in the event of the licensee not filing the application despite the aforesaid proceeding, the
Commission may on its own, decide the tariff based on the previous year's tariff details and after incorporating
suitable adjustments.

Provided further that the Commission may also pass directions under Section 129 and/or Section 142 of the Act
if required.

17. Tariff Order

17.1 The Commission shall, within one hundred and twenty (120) Days from the date of acceptance of the complete
Petition, subject to the petitioner providing information subsequently sought by the Commission in a timely
manner and after considering all suggestions and objections received from the various stakeholders:

a) Issue a Tariff Order, or

b) Reject the application for reasons to be recorded in writing if such application is not in accordance with the

provisions of the Act and Regulations made thereunder or the provisions of any other law for the time being
in force:

Provided that an Applicant shall be given a reasonable opportunity of being heard before rejecting its application.

17.2 The tariff so published shall be in force from the date specified in the said Order and shall, unless amended or
revoked, continue to be in force for such period as may be stipulated therein.

17.3 The Applicant shall publish the tariff approved by the Commission in at least two English and two vernacular
languages daily newspapers having wide circulation in the State of location of Generating Company or
Transmission Licensee or Area of Supply of Distribution Licensee, as the case may be, display the approved
tariff schedule on its internet website, and make available for sale a booklet containing such tariff to any person
upon payment of reasonable charges.

18. True-up Order

18.1 The Commission Shall True-up expenses either as part of the Tariff Order or issue Order/s for True-up of
expenses preceding the Tariff order of the ensuing year.

18.2 An Order for True-up of Expenses shall be issued on annual basis.

18.3 An Order for True-up of Expenses shall be on the basis of expense estimates made at the beginning of the year
under consideration and actual expenses booked in the audited books of account of the Distribution Licensee for
the year.

18.4 Estimates of expenses for the ensuing year shall be on the basis of corresponding figures in the order for True-up
of expenses of the previous year and Tariff Order of the current year.

19. Adherence to Tariff Order

19.1 No tariff or part of any tariff may ordinarily be amended more frequently than once in a Year, except in respect
of any changes expressly permitted under the terms of any fuel surcharge formula as may be specified.

19.2 If any Generating Company or Licensee recovers a price or charge exceeding the tariff determined by the
Commission under Section 62 of the Act and in accordance with these Regulations, the excess amount shall be
payable to the person who has paid such price or charge, along with interest equivalent to the Bank Rate
prevailing during the relevant period, without prejudice to any other liability to which such Generating Company
or Licensee may be subject:

Provided that such interest payable to any party shall not be allowed to be recovered through the Aggregate
Revenue Requirement of the Licensee:

Provided further that the Licensee shall maintain separate details of such interest paid or payable by it, and shall
submit them to the Commission along with its Petition.

20. Subsidy Mechanism

20.1 If the Government requires to grant any subsidy to any Consumer or class of Consumers in the tariff determined
by the Commission, the Government shall, notwithstanding any direction which may be given under Section 108
of the Act, pay in advance the amount to compensate the Distribution Licensee/person affected by the grant of
subsidy, as a condition for the Licensee or any other person concerned to implement the subsidy provided for by
the Government, in the manner specified in these Regulations:
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Provided that no such direction of the Government shall be operative if the payment is not made in accordance
with the provisions contained in these Regulations, and the tariff fixed by the Commission shall be applicable
from the date of issue of orders by the Commission in this regard.

In Case the UT Government decide to extend financial support /subsidy in the form of grant in aid support to the
power utilities till it achieves turnaround in T&D sector as envisaged in the ‘Financial Feasibility Plan for the
distribution utilities of UT of J&K and UT of Ladakh’ prepared by the Committee constituted by JKPDD,
Government of J&K vide order No 164-PDD of 2019 dated 20 th September 2019. The Commission shall factor
- in such grant in support in tariff computation and construed it as tariff related revenue subsidy provided under
Section 65 of the Electricity Act 2003. It is desirable that the UT Government shall provide the subsidy to the
intended class of consumer as envisaged in Section 65 of the Electricity Act.

CHAPTER 3: FINANCIAL PRINCIPLES
21. Financial Principles for a Generating Company and a Transmission licensee

21.1 The Capital Cost for a Generating Company shall be determined by the Commission, guided by the relevant
provisions of the prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations governing the generation of electricity, subject to prudence
check. The Capital Cost so determined shall form the basis of the determination of tariffs for Existing Projects
and New Projects.

21.2 The norms for Additional Capitalisation, Renovation, and Modernisation for a Generating Company shall be in
accordance with the prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations, governing the generation of electricity.

21.3 The financial principles including principles governing Debt to Equity Ratio, Return on Equity, Interest on Loan,
Foreign Exchange Risk Variation, Interest on Working Capital, treatment of Tax on Income, norms for working
capital, etc. for a Generating Company and a Transmission licensee shall be as specified in the prevalent CERC
Tariff Regulations, governing the generation of electricity and transmission of electricity.

22. Financial Principles for Distribution Business

22.1 The financial principles specified in the subsequent sections of this Chapter of these Regulations shall be
applicable to the Distribution Licensee.

23. Capital Cost
23.1 Capital cost for an existing capital investment Project shall include:
a) The Capital Cost admitted by the Commission prior to April 1, 2024, duly trued up on April 1, 2024;

b) Additional Capitalisation and De-capitalisation for the respective year of the tariff as determined in
accordance with Regulation 24; and

¢) Expenditure on account of renovation and modernisation as admitted by this Commission in accordance with
Regulation 26.

23.2 Capital cost for a new capital investment Project shall include:
a) The expenditure incurred or projected to be incurred up to date of commercial operation of the project;
b) Interest During Construction (IDC) and financing charges on the actual loan amount;

¢) Interest During Construction (IDC) and Incidental Expenditure During Construction (IEDC) specified in
these Regulations;

d) Capitalised initial spares subject to the ceiling rates specified in these Regulations;

e) Expenditure on account of Additional Capitalisation and De-capitalisation for the respective year of the tariff
as determined in accordance with Regulation 24; and

f) Adjustment of any revenue earned by the Generating Company, Transmission Licensee, and Distribution
Licensee by using the assets before CoD;

g) The expenses incurred by the Licensee on obtaining the right of way, as admitted by the Commission after
prudence check;

h) Any gain or loss on account of foreign exchange rate variation pertaining to the loan amount availed up to the
Date of Commercial Operation, as admitted by the Commission after prudence check:

Provided that any gain or loss on account of foreign exchange rate variation pertaining to the loan amount
availed up to the Date of Commercial Operation shall be adjusted only against the debt component of the capital
cost:
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Provided further that the capital cost of the assets forming part of the Project but not put to use or not in use shall
be excluded from the capital cost:

Provided also that the Licensee shall submit documentary evidence in support of its claim of assets being put to
use.

23.3 The capital cost admitted by the Commission after prudence check shall form the basis for determination of
tariff:

Provided that prudence check may include scrutiny of the reasonableness of the capital expenditure, financing
plan including the choice and manner of funding, interest during construction, use of efficient technology, cost
over-run and time over-run, and such other matters as may be considered appropriate by the Commission for
determination of tariff.

23.4 The approved capital cost shall be considered for determination of tariff and if sufficient justification is provided
for any escalation in the capital cost, the same may be considered by the Commission subject to prudence check:

Provided that in case the actual capital cost is lower than the approved capital cost, then the actual capital cost
shall be considered for determination of tariff of the Licensee.

Provided also that where power purchase agreement or transmission or wheeling agreement provides for a
ceiling of capital cost, the capital cost admitted by the Commission shall take into consideration such ceiling for
determination of tariff.

23.5 The actual capital expenditure on Date of Commercial Operation for the original scope of work based on audited
accounts of the Transmission Licensee and Distribution Licensee, limited to original cost may be considered
subject to prudence check by the Commission.

23.6 The capital cost may include initial spares capitalised as a percentage of the Plant and Machinery cost up to Cut-
off Date, subject to the following ceiling norms:

a)  Transmission Line & Distribution Line - 1%
b)  Transmission Sub-station & Distribution Sub-station (Green Field) - 4%
¢)  Transmission Sub-station (Brown Field) - 6%
d)  Series Compensation devices and HVDC Station - 4%
e)  Gas Insulated Sub-station (GIS) - 5%
f) Communication System - 3.5%

23.7 Any expenditure on the replacement, renovation and modernization or extension of life of old fixed assets, as
applicable to the Transmission Licensee and Distribution Licensee, shall be considered after writing off the net
value of such replaced assets from the original capital cost and shall be calculated as follows:

Net Value of Replaced Assets = OCFA — AD - CC

Where;

OCFA: - Original capital cost of Replaced Assets;

AD: -Accumulated depreciation pertaining to the Replaced Assets
CC: - Total Consumer Contribution pertaining to the Replaced Assets:

Provided further that the amount of insurance proceeds received, if any, towards damage to any asset requiring
its replacement shall be first adjusted towards outstanding actual or normative loan and the balance amount, if
any, shall be utilised to reduce the capital cost of such replaced asset, and any further balance amount shall be

considered as Non-Tariff Income.

23.8 Interest During Construction (IDC):

a) Interest during construction shall be computed corresponding to the loan from the date of infusion of debt
fund, and after taking into account the prudent phasing of funds up to Scheduled COD.

b) In case of additional costs on account of IDC due to delay in achieving the Scheduled COD, the generating
company or the transmission licensee, or the distribution licensee as the case may be, shall be required to
furnish detailed justifications with supporting documents for such delay including prudent phasing of funds:

Provided that if the delay is not attributable to the generating company or the transmission licensee or the
distribution licensee as the case may be, and is due to uncontrollable factors as specified in Regulation 12 of
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these Regulations, IDC may be allowed after due prudence check and taking into account prudent phasing of
funds.

23.9 Incidental Expenditure During Construction (IEDC):

a) Incidental expenditure during construction shall be computed from the zero dates and after taking into
account pre-operative expenses up to Scheduled COD:

Provided that any revenue earned during the construction period up to Scheduled COD on account of
interest on deposits or advances, or any other receipts may be taken into account for the reduction in
incidental expenditure during construction.

b) In case of additional costs on account of IEDC due to delay in achieving the Scheduled COD, the generating
company or the transmission licensee, or the distribution licensee as the case may be, shall be required to
furnish detailed justification with supporting documents for such delay including the details of incidental
expenditure during the period of delay and liquidated damages recovered or recoverable corresponding to
the delay:

Provided that if the delay is not attributable to the generating company or the transmission licensee or the
distribution licensee, as the case may be, and is due to uncontrollable factors as specified in Regulation 12,
IEDC may be allowed after due prudence check:

Provided further that where the delay is attributable to an agency or contractor or supplier engaged by the
generating company or the transmission licensee or the distribution licensee, the liquidated damages
recovered from such agency or contractor or supplier shall be kept in view while computing the capital cost.

¢) In case the time over-run beyond Scheduled COD is not admissible after due prudence, the increase of capital
cost on account of cost variation corresponding to the period of time overrun may be excluded from
capitalization irrespective of price variation provisions in the contracts with supplier or contractor of the
generating company or the transmission licensee or the distribution licensee.

24. Additional Capitalization and De-capitalisation

24.1 The capital expenditure, actually incurred or projected to be incurred, in respect of a New Project or an Existing
Project, on the following counts within the original scope of work, after the Date of Commercial Operation and
up to the Cut-off Date may be admitted by the Commission, subject to prudence check:

a) Undischarged liabilities recognized to be payable at a future date;
b) Works deferred for execution;

¢) Procurement of initial capital spares within the original scope of work, in accordance with the provisions of
Regulation 23.6;

d) Liabilities to meet award of arbitration or for compliance with the order or decree of a court of law; and
e) Change in law or compliance with any existing law:

Provided that the details of works asset-wise/work-wise included in the original scope of work along with
estimates of expenditure, liabilities recognized to be payable at a future date, and the works deferred for
execution shall be submitted along with the application for determination of tariff.

24.2 The capital expenditure incurred or projected to be incurred in respect of the New Project on the following
counts within the original scope of work after the Cut-off Date may be admitted by the Commission, subject to
prudence check:

a) Liabilities to meet award of arbitration or for compliance with the order or decree of a court of law;
b) Change in law or compliance with any existing law;

c) Any liability for works executed prior to the Cut-off Date, after prudence check of the details of such
undischarged liability, the total estimated cost of the package, reasons for such withholding of payment and
release of such payments, etc.

24.3 The capital expenditure, in respect of the Existing Project, incurred or projected to be incurred on the following
counts after the Cut-off Date, may be admitted by the Commission, subject to prudence check:

a) Liabilities to meet award of arbitration or for compliance with the order or decree of a court of law;

b) Change in law or compliance of any existing law;



[9TT HH—=vE 4] T T TSI © T 65

c) Any expenses to be incurred on account of the need for higher security and safety of the capital asset as
advised or directed by appropriate Government agencies or statutory authorities responsible for national
security/internal security;

d) Any liability for works executed prior to the Cut-off Date, after prudence check of the details of such
undischarged liability, total estimated cost of package, reasons for such withholding of payment and release
of such payments etc.;

e) Any liability for works admitted by the Commission after the Cut-off Date to the extent of discharge of such
liabilities by actual payments;

f) Any additional capital expenditure, which has become necessary for efficient operation of the transmission
system. The claim shall be substantiated with the technical justification duly supported by the documentary
evidence like test results carried out by an independent agency in case of deterioration of assets, report of an
independent agency in case of damage caused by natural calamities, obsolescence of technology, up-
gradation of capacity for the technical reason such as increase in fault level; and

g) In case of transmission system, any additional expenditure on items such as relays, control and
instrumentation, computer system, power line carrier communication, DC batteries, replacement due to
obsolesce of technology, replacement of switchyard equipment due to increase of fault level, tower
strengthening, communication equipment, emergency restoration system, insulators cleaning infrastructure,
replacement of porcelain insulator with polymer insulators, replacement of damaged equipment not covered
by insurance and any other expenditure which has become necessary for successful and efficient operation
of transmission system:

Provided that any expenditure on acquiring the minor items or the assets including tools and tackles, furniture,
air-conditioners, voltage stabilizers, refrigerators, coolers, computers, fans, washing machines, heat convectors,
mattresses, carpets, etc., bought after the Cut-off Date shall not be considered for additional capitalization for
determination of tariff:

Provided further that if any expenditure has been claimed under Renovation and Modernisation (R&M) or
repairs and maintenance under O&M Expenses, the same expenditure cannot be claimed under this Regulation.

24.4 Impact of additional capitalization on the tariff, as the case may be, shall be considered during truing up of each
Financial Year of the Control Period.

24.5 In case of de-capitalisation of assets of a generating company or the distribution licensee or the transmission
licensee, as the case may be, the original cost of such asset as on the date of de-capitalisation shall be deducted
from the value of gross fixed asset and corresponding loan as well as equity shall be deducted from outstanding
loan and the equity respectively in the year such de-capitalisation takes place, duly taking into consideration the
year in which it was capitalised.

25. Consumer Contribution, Deposit Work, Grant and Capital Subsidy

25.1 The works carried out by the Transmission Licensee and Distribution Licensee after obtaining a part or all of the
funds from the users shall be classified as Deposit Works;

25.2 Capital works undertaken by the Transmission Licensee and Distribution Licensee utilizing grants received from
the State and Central Governments, including funds under various schemes shall be classified under the category
of Grants;

25.3 The works carried out with any other grant of similar nature or such amount received without any obligation to
return the same and with no interest costs attached to such subvention shall also be classified as works performed
through consumer contribution, deposit work, capital subsidy or grant.

25.4 The expenses on such capital expenditure shall be treated as follows:
a) Normative O&M expenses as specified in these Regulations shall be allowed,;

b) The debt-to-equity ratio shall be considered in accordance with Regulation 26, after deducting the amount of
financial support provided through consumer contribution, deposit work, capital subsidy, or grant;

c) Depreciation to the extent of works performed through consumer contribution, deposit work, capital subsidy,
or grant shall not be allowed as specified in Regulation 30;

d) Provisions related to return on equity, as specified in Regulation 27, shall not be applicable to the extent of
financial support provided through consumer contribution, deposit work, capital subsidy, or grant;

e) Provisions related to interest on loan capital, as specified in Regulation 28, shall not be applicable to the
extent of financial support provided through consumer contribution, deposit work, capital subsidy, or grant.



66 THE GAZETTE OF INDIA : EXTRAORDINARY [PART I1I—SEC.4]

26. Debt to Equity Ratio

26.1 In the case of Existing Projects, debt to equity ratio allowed by the Commission for the determination of tariff for
the period ending shall be considered:

Provided that in case of retirement or replacement or De-capitalisation of the assets, the equity capital approved
as mentioned above, shall be reduced to the extent of 30% (or actual equity component based on documentary
evidence, if it is lower than 30%) of the original cost of such assets:

Provided further that in case of retirement or replacement or De-capitalisation of the assets, the debt capital
approved as mentioned above, shall be reduced to the extent of the outstanding debt component based on
documentary evidence, or the normative loan component, as the case may be, of the original cost of such assets.

26.2 For New Projects, the debt-equity ratio as on the Date of Commercial Operation shall be 70:30 of the amount of
capital cost approved by the Commission under Regulation 23, after prudence checks for determination of tariff:

Provided that where equity actually deployed is less than 30% of the capital cost of the capitalized asset, the
actual equity shall be considered for determination of tariff:

Provided also that if the equity actually deployed is more than 30% of the capital cost, equity in excess of 30%
shall be treated as a normative loan for the Licensee for determination of tariff:

Provided also that the Licensee shall submit documentary evidence for the actual deployment of equity and
explain the source of funds for the equity:

Provided also that the equity invested in foreign currency shall be designated in Indian rupees on the date of each
investment:

Provided further that the premium, if any, raised by the Licensee while issuing share capital and investment of
internal resources created out of its free reserves, for the funding of the scheme, shall be reckoned as paid up
capital for the purpose of computing return on equity, provided such premium amount and internal resources are
actually utilized for meeting the capital expenditure of the transmission system or the distribution system, and are
within the ceiling of 30% of capital cost approved by the Commission.

26.3 Any expenditure incurred or projected to be incurred on or after April 1, 2024, as may be admitted by the
Commission, as additional capital expenditure for determination of tariff, and renovation and modernisation
expenditure for life extension shall be serviced in the manner specified in this Regulation.

27. Return on Equity (RoE)

27.1 Return on Equity shall be computed on the paid-up equity capital determined in accordance with Regulation 26
for the assets put to use.

Provided that Return on Equity shall be allowed in two parts, i.e., Base Return on Equity and Additional Return
on Equity for Distribution Licensees of the UT of Jammu & Kashmir and the UT of Ladakh.

Provided also that in case of Generation Company and Transmission Licensee the Return on Equity shall be
allowed in accordance with the prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations.

27.2 The Base Return on Equity for the Distribution Wires Business and Retail Supply Business of the Distribution
Licensee shall be allowed on the equity capital determined in accordance with Regulation 26 and Regulation 50
for the assets put to use at base rate of fourteen (14%) per cent per annum.

27.3 Additional Return On Equity (RoE) for Distribution Licensees: The Additional Return On Equity (RoE) of
1.5% shall be allowed at the time of true-up subject to the following: -

i. If the Meterisation of unmetered domestic consumers is within Timelines specified under Central
Government Schemes or through directives issued by this Commission an Additional RoE of 0.50% shall be
allowed.

ii. If the actual Repairs and Maintenance expenses in a year are more than 95% of the approved Repairs and
Maintenance expenses for that year, an Additional Return on Equity of 0.50% shall be allowed.

iii.  Further, an Additional RoE of 0.5% shall be allowed at the discretion of the Commission on compliance of
directives issued by this Commission through Tariff Order or Suo-Moto proceedings.

28. Interest and finance charges on Loan capital and Security Deposit

28.1 The loans arrived at in the manner indicated in Regulation 26 on the assets put to use, shall be considered as
gross normative loans for the calculation of interest on the loan:

Provided that interest and finance charges on capital works in progress shall be excluded:
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Provided further that in case of De-capitalisation or retirement or replacement of assets, the loan capital shall be
reduced to the extent of the outstanding loan component of the original cost of the de-capitalized or retired or
replaced assets, based on documentary evidence.

Provided further that interest and finance charges for the Generating Company and Transmission Licensee shall
be as per provisions laid down in the prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations.

28.2 The normative loan outstanding as on April 1, 2024, shall be worked out by deducting the cumulative repayment
as admitted by the Commission up to March 31, 2024, from the approved gross normative loan.

28.3 Notwithstanding any moratorium period availed by the Distribution Licensee, as the case may be, the repayment
of the loan shall be considered from the first year of commercial operation of the project and shall be equal to the
annual depreciation allowed in accordance with Regulation 30.

28.4 The rate of interest shall be the weighted average rate of interest calculated on the basis of the actual loan
portfolio of the previous year after providing appropriate accounting adjustment for interest capitalised:

Provided also that if there is no actual loan for a particular Year but the normative loan is still outstanding, the
last available weighted average rate of interest for the actual loan shall be considered:

Provided further that if the Transmission Licensee or the Distribution Licensee, as the case may be does not have
actual loan, then one (1) Year State Bank of India (SBI) MCLR / any replacement thereof as notified by RBI for
the time being in effect applicable for one (I) Year period, as may be applicable as on 1%t April of the relevant
Year plus 100 basis points shall be considered as the rate of interest for the purpose of allowing the interest on
the normative loan.

28.5 The interest on the loan shall be calculated on the normative average loan of the Year by applying the weighted
average rate of interest:

Provided that at the time of truing up, the normative average loan of the Year shall be considered on the basis of
the actual asset capitalisation approved by the Commission for the Year.

28.6 The Distribution Licensee, shall make every effort to re-finance the loan as long as it results in net savings on
interest, and in that event the costs associated with such re-financing shall be borne by the beneficiaries and the
net savings on interest shall be shared between the beneficiaries and the Distribution Licensee, as the case may
be, in the ratio of 1:2.

Provided that the changes to the terms and conditions of the loans shall be reflected from the date of such
refinancing.

28.7 The above interest computation shall exclude the interest on the loan amount, normative or otherwise, to the
extent of the capital cost funded by consumer contribution, deposit work, capital subsidy or grant, carried out by
the Distribution Licensee.

28.8 The finance charges incurred for obtaining loans from financial institutions for any Year shall be allowed by the
Commission at the time of Truing-up, subject to prudence check

28.9 The excess interest during construction on account of time and/or cost overrun as compared to the approved
completion schedule and capital cost or on account of excess drawal of the debt funds disproportionate to the
actual requirement based on Scheme completion status, shall be allowed or disallowed partly or fully on a case-
to-case basis, after prudence check by the Commission:

Provided that where the excess interest during construction is on account of delay attributable to an agency or
contractor or supplier engaged by the Transmission Licensee, any liquidated damages recovered from such
agency or contractor or supplier shall be taken into account for computation of capital cost:

Provided further that the extent of liquidated damages to be considered shall depend on the amount of excess
interest during construction that has been allowed by the Commission.

28.10 Interest shall be allowed on the amount held as security deposit by the Distribution Licensee, held in cash from
Retail Consumers at the Bank Rate as on 1st April of the Financial Year in which the Petition is filed:

Provided that at the time of truing-up, the interest on the amount of security deposit for the Year shall be
considered on the basis of the actual interest paid by the Licensee during the Year, subject to prudence check by
the Commission.

29. Foreign Exchange Rate Variation (FERV)

29.1 The Licensee may hedge foreign exchange exposure in respect of the interest on foreign currency loan and
repayment of foreign loan acquired for the transmission system or distribution system, in part or in full at its
discretion.
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29.2 The Licensee shall be permitted to recover the cost of hedging of foreign exchange rate variation corresponding
to the foreign debt, in the relevant Year as an expense, subject to prudence check by the Commission, and extra
rupee liability corresponding to such variation shall not be allowed against the hedged foreign debt.

29.3 To the extent that the foreign exchange exposure is not hedged, any extra rupee liability towards interest
payment and loan repayment corresponding to the foreign currency loan in the relevant Year shall be allowed
subject to prudence check by the Commission.

30. Depreciation
30.1 The value base for the purpose of depreciation shall be the capital cost of the asset admitted by the Commission;

Provided that the depreciation shall be allowed after reducing the approved original cost of the retired or replaced
or decapitalized assets:

Provided also that no depreciation shall be allowed on the assets financed through consumer contribution,
deposit work, capital subsidy, or grant.

30.2 The salvage value of the asset shall be considered as 10% and depreciation shall be allowed up to a maximum of
90% of the capital cost of the asset.

30.3 Land other than the land held under the lease shall not be a depreciable asset and its cost shall be excluded from
the capital cost while computing the depreciable value of the assets.

30.4 The depreciation for a Distribution Licensee shall be calculated annually, based on the Straight-Line Method,
over the Useful Life of the asset at rates specified in Appendix—I of the Regulations for assets declared in
commercial operation after 31t March 2024.

Provided that the balance depreciable value as on 31 March 2024 closing after a period of 15 years from the
date of commercial operation shall be spread over the balance useful life of the assets.

30.5 In the case of existing assets, the balance depreciable value as on April 1, 2024, shall be worked out by deducting
the cumulative depreciation as admitted by the Commission up to March 31, 2024, from the gross depreciable
value of the assets. The rate of depreciation shall be continued to be charged at the rate specified in Appendix-I
till cumulative depreciation reaches 70%. Thereafter, the remaining depreciable value shall be spread over the
remaining life of the asset such that maximum depreciation does not exceed 90%.

30.6 The depreciation shall be chargeable from the first year of commercial operations. In case of projected
commercial operation of the assets during the Year, depreciation shall be computed based on the average of
opening and closing value of assets:

Provided that depreciation shall be re-calculated during truing-up for assets capitalised at the time of truing up of
each Year of the Control Period, based on documentary evidence of asset capitalised by the Applicant, subject to
the prudence check of the Commission.

30.7 For Generating Company and Transmission Licensee, the depreciation shall be calculated at rates and norms
specified in Chapter 4 and Chapter-5 respectively.

30.8 The Distribution Licensee shall provide the list of assets added during each Year of Control Period and list of
assets completing 90% of depreciation in the Year along with Petition for annual performance review, true-up
and tariff determination for ensuing Year.

31. Interest on Working Capital
31.1 The norms for working capital for Generating Company shall be as specified in Chapter 4 of these Regulations.
31.2 The norms for working capital for Transmission Licensee shall be as specified in Chapter 5 of these Regulations.

31.3 The norms for working capital for Distribution Wires Business and Retail Supply Business shall be as specified
in Chapter 6 and Chapter 7 of these Regulations.

31.4 The interest on working capital shall be a payable on normative basis notwithstanding that the Licensee has not
taken a working capital loan from any outside agency or has exceeded the working capital loan based on the
normative figures.

31.5 The rate of interest on working capital shall be equal to one (I) Year State Bank of India (SBI) MCLR / any
replacement thereof as notified by RBI for the time being in effect applicable for one (I) Year period, as may be
applicable as on 1st April of the Financial Year in which the Petition has filed plus 200 basis points.

32. Taxonincome

32.1 The treatment of tax on income for a Generating Company or Transmission Licensee shall be in accordance with
the prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations.
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32.2 The Commission in its MYT Order shall provisionally approve Income Tax payable for each Year of the Control
Period, if any, based on the actual income tax paid, including cess and surcharge on the same, if any, as per the
latest audited accounts available for the Distribution Licensee, subject to prudence check.

32.3 Variation between Income Tax actually paid, including cess and surcharge on the same, if any, and approved, if
any, on the income stream of the Licensed business of the Distribution Licensees shall be reimbursed
to/recovered from the Distribution Licensees, based on the documentary evidence submitted at the time of truing
up of each Year of the Control Period, subject to prudence check.

32.4 Under-recovery or over-recovery of any amount from the Consumers on account of such tax having been passed
on to them shall be adjusted every Year on the basis of income-tax assessment under the Income-Tax Act, 1961,
as certified by the statutory auditors. The Distribution Licensee may include this variation in its truing up
Petition:

Provided that tax on any income stream other than the core business shall not be a pass-through component in
tariff and tax on such other income shall be borne by the Distribution Licensee.

33. Rebate

33.1 The rebate to be provided by a Generating Company or Transmission Licensee to a Distribution Licensee for
early payment of bills shall be in accordance with the prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations.

33.2 Such rebate earned by the Distribution Licensee shall be considered under Non-Tariff Income for the
Distribution Licensee.

33.3 All rebates/incentives provided by the Generating Company or Transmission Licensee to the beneficiaries shall
be allowed as an expense for the Generating Company or Transmission Licensee, as the case may be.

33.4 Penalties paid, if any, by the Generating Company or Transmission Licensee shall not be allowed as an expense
for the Generating Company or Licensee

34. Bad and doubtful debts.

34.1 The Commission may allow a provision for bad and doubtful debts up to one percent (1%) of the estimated
annual revenue of the distribution licensee, subject to the actual writing of bad debts by it in the previous years.

Provided further that where the total amount of such provisioning allowed in previous years for bad and doubtful
debts exceeds five (5) percent of the receivables at the beginning of the year, no such appropriation shall be
allowed which would have the effect of increasing the provisioning beyond the said maximum.

35. Late Payment Surcharge

35.1 In case the payment of bills of transmission charges by a beneficiary is delayed beyond a period as specified in
the prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations, a late payment surcharge shall be levied on the billed amount in
accordance with the prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations.

35.2 The delayed payment charge earned by the Transmission Licensee or the Distribution Licensee shall not be
considered under its Non-Tariff Income.

35.3 Interest on delayed payment earned by the Transmission Licensee or the Distribution Licensee shall be
considered under its Non-Tariff Income after subtracting the normative interest on additional working capital
required by the Licensee on account of delayed payment by Consumers.

35.4 The delayed payment charge paid or payable by the Distribution Licensee to the Generating Company or the
Transmission Licensee shall not be allowed as an expense for such Distribution Licensee.

36. Income from Other Business

36.1 The revenue from other business shall be treated as income to the extent authorised by the Commission under
Sections 41 and 51 of the Electricity Act, 2003.

36.2 Where the Transmission Licensee or Distribution Licensee is engaged in any Other Business, the income from
such business shall be shall be calculated by the Commission appropriately:

Provided that the Licensee shall follow a reasonable basis for allocation of all joint and common costs between
the transmission or distribution business and the Other Business and prepare Accounting Statements accordingly.

Provided further that where the sum total of the direct and indirect costs of such Other Business exceeds the
revenues from such Other Business, no amount shall be allowed to be added to the Aggregate Revenue
Requirement of the Licensee on account of such Other Business.
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37.

Regulatory Asset

37.1 In case of abnormal variation in income or expenses resulting in substantial revenue gap, full recovery of which

38.

in a single year is not feasible, the Commission may allow creation of Regulatory Asset as per guidelines
provided in clause 8.2.2 of the Tariff Policy 2016 and its amendments and suitably provide for its recovery
through tariff or as a surcharge within a period not exceeding seven years. Amortisation of the regulatory asset so
created shall be dealt in accordance with the Tariff Policy, provided that the Commission may allow a carrying
cost on Regulatory Asset at such rates as the Commission may deem fit.

CHAPTER 4: GENERATION
Applicability

38.1 The Regulations contained in this Chapter shall apply for the determination of tariff for supply of electricity to

the Distribution Licensee from a Generating Station located in the UT of Jammu & Kashmir & the UT of
Ladakh.

38.2 The Commission shall be guided by the terms and conditions contained in this Chapter in determining the tariff

for supply of electricity by a Generating Company to a Distribution Licensee in the following cases:

a) Where such tariff is pursuant to a power purchase agreement or arrangement entered into subsequent to the
date of effectiveness of these Regulations; or

b) Where such tariff is pursuant to a power purchase agreement or arrangement entered into prior to the date of
effectiveness of these Regulations and either the Commission has not previously approved such
agreement/arrangement or the agreement/arrangement envisages that the tariff shall be based on the Tariff
Regulations notified by the Commission; or

¢) Where the Distribution Licensee is engaged in the business of generation of electricity, in determining the
price at which electricity is supplied by the Generating Station of the Distribution Licensee to its Retail
Supply Business.

38.3 Notwithstanding anything contained in this Chapter 4, the Commission shall adopt the tariff if such tariff has

39.

been determined through transparent process of bidding in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Central
Government.

Components of Tariff

39.1 The Aggregate revenue requirement for a Generation company shall be determined by the commission, except

for projects covered under a competitive bidding process, on the basis of an application for determination of
ARR made by the generating company in accordance with Chapter 2 of these regulations. The recovery of
Aggregate Revenue Requirement and fuel cost for a Generation Company shall be in accordance with the
prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations governing generation of electricity. The Aggregate Revenue Requirement for
a Generation Company shall comprise of the following components:

a) Return on Equity;
b) Interest and finance charges on Loan;
c) Depreciation;
d) Interest on Working Capital;
e) Operation and maintenance expenses;
f)  Income tax
Less:
g) Non-Tariff Income;

h) Income from Other Business, to the extent specified in these Regulations

39.2 The treatment of each of the above components shall be in accordance with the prevalent CERC Tariff

Regulations governing the generation of electricity.

39.3 The Aggregate revenue requirement for a Generation company shall be determined by the commission, except

for projects covered under a competitive bidding process, on the basis of an application for determination of
ARR made by the generating company in accordance with Chapter 2 of these regulations. The recovery of
Aggregate Revenue Requirement and fuel cost for a Generation Company shall be in accordance with the
prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations governing generation of electricity.
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40. Norms of operation

40.1 The norms of operation for a Generating Station including Normative annual plant availability factor (NAPAF),
Normative Annual Plant Load Factor (NAPLF), Gross Station Heat Rate, Auxiliary Consumption etc. shall be in
accordance with the prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations governing generation of electricity.

Provided that the Generation Company viz. Jammu & Kashmir Power Development Corporation Limited
(JKPDCL) shall conduct a detailed study to ascertain the plant-wise NAPAF for the twenty-two (22) Hydro
Electric Power Stations (HEPs) and submit the same before the Commission under a separate petition. Based on
the study report, the Commission shall determine the plant-wise NAPAF for the HEPs of JKPDCL.

Provided that the guidelines for calculation of NAPAF is laid down in Appendix-I11 to these Regulations.
CHAPTER 5: INTRA-STATE TRANSMISSION
41. Applicability

41.1 The Regulations contained in this Chapter shall apply for the determination of tariff for access and use of the
intra- State transmission system in the UT of Jammu & Kashmir and the UT of Ladakh.

42. Components of tariff

42.1 The annual transmission charges for each Financial Year of the Control Period shall provide for the recovery of
the Aggregate Revenue Requirement of the Transmission Licensee for the respective Financial Year of the
Control Period, as reduced by the amount of Non-Tariff Income, income from Other Business and short-term
open access charges as approved by the Commission:

Provided that in case of competitively awarded transmission system projects in pursuance of Section 63 of the
Act and in accordance with guidelines for competitive bidding for transmission, the annual transmission charges
shall be as per the annual Transmission Service Charges (TSC) quoted by such competitively awarded
transmission projects.

Provided also that all new Intra-State Transmission Project costing above the threshold limit as decided by the
Commission and meeting other conditions as laid down in Appendix-1V shall be developed through Tariff
Based Competitive Bidding (TBCB).

42.2 The annual transmission charges of the Transmission Licensee shall be determined by the Commission on the
basis of an application for determination of Aggregate Revenue Requirement made by the Transmission
Licensee in accordance with Chapter 2 of these Regulations.

42.3 The Aggregate Revenue Requirement for a Transmission Licensee shall comprise the following components:
a) Return on Equity;
b) Depreciation;
c) Interest and Finance Charges on Loan Capital;
d) Interest on Working Capital and deposits from Transmission System Users;
e) Operation and maintenance expenses;
f) Income Tax
Less:
g) Income from Open Access Charges;
h) Non-Tariff Income;
i) Income from Other Business, to the extent specified in these Regulations:

42.4 The treatment of each of the above components shall be in accordance with the prevalent CERC Tariff
Regulations governing transmission of electricity.

Provided that prior period income/expenses shall be allowed by the Commission at the time of truing up based
on audited accounts, on a case-to-case basis, subject to prudence check.

43. Norms of Working Capital for Transmission Licensee

43.1 The Transmission Licensee shall be allowed interest on the estimated level of working capital for the Financial
Year computed in accordance with prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations.
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44. Non-Tariff Income

44.1.The Non-Tariff Income for a Transmission Licensee shall be applicable as specified in the prevalent CERC
Tariff Regulations.

45. Norms of Operations for Transmission Licensee

45.1 The norms of operations for a Transmission Licensee shall be applicable as specified in the prevalent CERC
Tariff Regulations.

Provided that sharing of incentive, if any with the beneficiaries for exceeding the norms of operations shall be in
accordance with provisions of prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations.

46. Transmission Loss

46.1 The energy losses in the transmission system of the Transmission Licensee, as determined by the State Load
Despatch Centre, shall be borne by the Transmission System Users in proportion to their usage of the intra- State
transmission system.

47. Sharing of charges for Intra-State Transmission Network

47.1 The Aggregate Revenue Requirement of the Transmission Licensee, as approved by the Commission, shall be
shared by all long-term users and medium-term users of the transmission system on a monthly basis in the ratio
of their respective “Allotted Transmission Capacity” to the total Allotted Transmission Capacity, in accordance
with the following formula:

MTCn= (Transmission ARR / 12) x (CC,/SCC)

Where,

MTCn = Monthly Transmission Charges payable by the nth long-term user or medium-term user of the
transmission system;

Transmission ARR = Aggregate Revenue Requirement of the Transmission Licensee, determined in accordance
with these Regulations;

CC, = Allotted Transmission Capacity by the nth long-term user or medium-term user of the transmission
system;

SCC = Sum of Allotted Transmission Capacity by all long-term users and medium-term users of the
transmission system:

Provided that the pjTcn. shall be payable on a monthly basis by each long-term user or medium-term user of the
transmission system and shall be collected by the “State Transmission Utility (STU)”.

47.2 The short-term Open Access Consumers shall pay transmission charges on Rs/MW/day basis as determined by
the Commission in accordance with applicable open access regulations enforce.

47.3 75% of charges collected from the short-term Open Access Consumers shall be adjusted towards reduction in the
charges payable by the long-term and medium-term Open Access Consumers. The remaining 25% of the charges
collected from short-term Open Access users shall be retained by the Transmission Licensee.

48. Consequential Impact of any Government of India Scheme

48.1 The consequential impact of any Government of India scheme for waiver/reduction of transmission charges,
incentives, and losses for any entity/ies, on the transmission charges payable by the other entities, shall be
addressed through separate Orders to be issued by the Commission from time to time.

CHAPTER 6: DISTRIBUTION WIRES BUSINESS
49. Separation of Accounts of Distribution Licensee

49.1 Every Distribution Licensee shall segregate accounts for Distribution Wires Business and Retail Supply Business
and shall prepare an Allocation Statement. The wheeling charges pertaining to Distribution Wires Business of
the Distribution Licensee shall be determined by the Commission on the basis of these segregated accounts:

Provided that in case complete accounting segregation has not been done, the following Allocation Statement
shall be applicable:
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Table 1: Allocation Statement for segregation of Distribution Wires Business and Retail Supply Business

Particulars Wires Business (%0) Retail Supply Business (%0)
Power Purchase Expenses 0% 100%
Inter-State Transmission Charges 0% 100%
Intra-State Transmission Charges 0% 100%
Employee Expenses 40% 60%
Administration & General Expenses 50% 50%
Repair & Maintenance Expenses 90% 10%
Capital Cost 90% 10%
Depreciation 90% 10%
Interest on Long-term Loan Capital 90% 10%
Interest on.working_capital and on consumer 10% 90%
security deposits
Bad Debts Written off 0% 100%
Income Tax 90% 10%
Non-Tariff Income 10% 90%
Income from Other Business 50% 50%

Provided further that the above Allocation Statement shall be applied for all or any of the heads of expenditure
and revenue, where actual accounting separation has not been done between the Distribution Wires Business and

Retail Supply Business.
50. Applicability

50.1 The Regulations contained in this Chapter shall apply to the determination of wheeling charges for usage of
distribution wires of a Distribution Licensee by a distribution system user, other than retail supply Consumers.

51. Aggregate Revenue Requirement for Distribution Wires Business

51.1 The wheeling charges for Distribution Wires Business of the Distribution Licensee shall provide for the recovery

of the Aggregate Revenue Requirement, which shall comprise of the following:

a) Return on Equity;

b) Interest and finance charges on Loan;

c) Depreciation;

d) Interest on Working Capital and deposits from distribution system users;

e) Operation and maintenance expenses;

f) Income Tax;
Less:

g) Non-Tariff income;

h) Income from Other Business, to the extent specified in these Regulations:

Provided that Return on Equity, Interest on Loan Capital, Depreciation, Interest on Working Capital, Interest on
deposits from Consumers and distribution system users, and Income Tax for Distribution Wires Business shall be
allowed in accordance with the provisions specified in Chapter 3 of these Regulations:

Provided further that prior period income/expenses shall be allowed by the Commission at the time of truing up
based on audited accounts, on a case-to-case basis, subject to prudence check:

Provided also that all penalties and compensation payable by the Licensee to any party for failure to meet any
Standards of Performance or for damages, as a consequence of the orders of the Commission, Courts, Consumer
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Grievance Redressal Forum, and Ombudsman, etc., shall not be allowed to be recovered through the Aggregate
Revenue Requirement:

Provided also that the Distribution Licensee shall maintain separate details of such penalties and compensation
paid or payable by the Licenseg, if any, and shall submit them to the Commission along with its Petition.

52. Operation and Maintenance (O&M) expenses for Distribution Wires Business

52.1 The Operation and Maintenance expenses for the Distribution Wires Business shall be computed in accordance
with these Regulations.

52.2 Operation and Maintenance (O&M) expenses shall comprise of the following:
a) Employee (EMP) expenses -salaries, wages, pension contribution and other employee costs;
b) Administrative and General (A&G) expenses including insurance charges if any; and
c) Repairs and Maintenance (R&M) expenses.
52.3 O&M expenses for the nth Year of the Control Period shall be approved based on the formula given below:
0&M, = (R&M, + EMP, + ARG,) + Terminal Liabilities;
(a) Employee Cost

Employee cost shall be computed on employee expenses for previous years escalated by consumer price index
(CPI) and suitable Growth Factor adjusted by provisions for expenses beyond the control of the Distribution
Licensee such as recovery/adjustment of terminal benefits, implications of Pay Commission, arrears and Interim
Relief, governed by the following formula:

EMP,= (EMP,_;) X (1 + CPl,yf n0n) + Growth Factor(G) + Provisions
Where,
EMP, — Employee expenses of the Distribution Licensee for the nth Year;

EMP, _; — Average Employee expenses for past three years, if n=1; Employee expenses for (n-1)th year,
otherwise.

CPLnna00n— IS the average increase in Consumer Price Index (CPI) for immediately preceding three (3) Years
before the base Year;

Growth Factor(G) — Shall be Year-on-Year/CAGR/any escalation factor considered by the licensee for
projecting the employee expenses considering future recruitment/retirement plans or requirement of additional
manpower;

Provision: Provision for expenses beyond control of the Distribution Licensee and expected one-time expenses
as specified above.

(b) Repairs and Maintenance(R&M) Expense

Repairs and Maintenance expense shall be calculated on Actual R&M expenses incurred for previous years
escalated by Wholesale Price Index (WPI) as per the following formula:

R&Mu: (R&Mu—l) X (1 + wp[i‘l:lﬂ;ltll:rl:l)
Where,
R&M,, — Repair and Maintenance expenses of the Distribution Licensee for the nth Year;

R&M,,_; — Average Repair and Maintenance expenses for past three years, if n=1; Repair and Maintenance
expenses for (n-1)th year, otherwise.

WPl 2000 — 1S the average increase in the Wholesale Price Index (WPI) for immediately preceding three (3)
Years before the base Year;

(c) Administrative and General Expense

A&G expense shall be computed on actual A&G expenses of previous years escalated by wholesale price index
(WPI) and adjusted by provisions for confirmed initiatives (1T initiatives as proposed by the Distribution
Licensee and validated by the Commission) or other expected one-time expenses, and shall be governed by
following formula:

A&G,=(A&G,_;) X (1 + WP y1an0n) T+ Provision
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Where,
A&G,— Administrative and General expenses of the Distribution Licensee for the nth Year;

A&G,_;— Average Administrative and General expenses for past three years, if n=1; Administrative and General
expenses for (n-1)th year, otherwise.

Actual Administrative and General expenses for (n-1)th Year;

WP fan0n — 1S the average increase in the Wholesale Price Index (WPI) for immediately preceding three (3)
Years before the base Year;

Provision: Cost for initiatives or other one-time expenses as proposed by the Distribution Licensee and validated
by the Commission

(d) Terminal liabilities

Terminal liabilities of employees of the Licensee including pension expenses etc. shall be approved as per
actuals submitted by the Licensee, subject to prudence check or be established through actuarial studies.
Additionally, any variation due to changes recommended by the pay commission shall be allowed separately by
the Commission, subject to prudence check.

52.4 For the purpose of estimation, the same value of factors — CPli;ation @Nd WPLpgation Shall be used for all Years
of the Control Period. However, the Commission shall consider the actual values of the factors — CPliyf41i0n and
WPLunation during the truing up exercise for the Year for which true up is being carried out and true up the
O&M Expenses for that Year, only to the extent of inflation.

53. Norms of Working Capital for Distribution Wires Business

53.1 The Distribution Licensee shall be allowed interest on the estimated level of working capital for the Distribution
Wires Business for the Financial Year, computed as follows:

a) O&M Expenses for one (1) month; plus
b) Maintenance spares at 40% of Repair and Maintenance (R&M) Expenses for one (1) month; plus

¢) Receivables equivalent to two (2) months of the expected revenue from charges for use of distribution wires
at the prevailing tariff;

Less

d) Amount, if any, held as security deposits under clause (b) of sub-section (1) of Section 47 of the Act from
distribution system users except the security deposits held in the form of Bank Guarantees:

Provided that at the time of truing up for any Year, the working capital requirement shall be re-calculated on the
basis of the values of components of working capital approved by the Commission in the truing up.

54. Non-Tariff Income

54.1 The amount of Non-Tariff Income relating to the Distribution Wires Business as approved by the Commission
shall be deducted from the Aggregate Revenue Requirement in determining the wheeling charges of the
Distribution Wires Business of the Distribution Licensee:

Provided that the Distribution Licensee shall submit full details of its forecast of Non-Tariff Income to the
Commission along with its application for determination of wheeling charges.

54.2 The Non-Tariff Income shall inter-alia include:
a) Income from rent of land or buildings;
b) Income from sale of scrap;
¢) Income from statutory investments;
d) Income from interest on contingency reserve investment;
e) Interest on advances to suppliers/contractors;
f) Rental from staff quarters;
g) Rental from contractors;
h) Income from hire charges from contactors and others;

i) Income from advertisements, etc.;
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55.

j)  Miscellaneous receipts;

k) Excess found on physical verification;

I) Deferred Income from grant, subsidy, etc., as per Annual Accounts;
m) Prior period income, etc.:

Provided that the interest/dividend earned from investments made out of Return on Equity corresponding to the
Distribution Wires Business of the Distribution Licensee shall not be included in Non-Tariff Income.

Determination of wheeling Charges

55.1 The Commission shall specify the Wheeling Charge of Distribution Wires Business of the Distribution Licensee

56.

in its Order passed under sub-section (3) of Section 64 of the Act:

Provided that the revenue from wheeling charges paid by the distribution system users other than the retail
Consumers under the above proviso shall be used to reduce the Aggregate Revenue Requirement of the
Distribution Wires Business to be recovered from the retail Consumers of the concerned Distribution, as
amended from time to time.

Wheeling Losses

56.1 The Distribution Licensee shall be allowed to recover, in kind, the approved level of wheeling losses arising

57.

from the operation of the distribution system, as stipulated in the respective Tariff Order.
CHAPTER 7: RETAIL SUPPLY OF ELECTRICITY

Applicability

57.1 These Regulations shall apply to determination of tariff for retail supply of electricity by a Distribution Licensee

58.

to its Consumers.

Aggregate Revenue Requirement for Retail Supply Business

58.1 The tariff for retail supply of the Distribution Licensee shall provide for the recovery of the Aggregate Revenue

Requirement of the Retail Supply Business for the respective Years of the Control Period, as approved by the
Commission and comprising the following components:

a) Cost of own power generation and power purchase expenses from other sources including Jammu Kashmir
Power Corporation Ltd (JKPCL);

b) Inter-State transmission charges;
¢) RLDC fees;

d) Intra-State transmission charges;
e) SLDC fees and charges;

f) Balance Aggregate Revenue Requirement for Distribution Wires Business, as determined under Chapter 6 of
these Regulations, after deducting income from wheeling charges payable by distribution system users other
than the retail Consumers getting electricity supply from the same Distribution Licensee in accordance with
prevalent Open Access Regulations, as amended from time to time;

g) Provision for bad and doubtful debts;
h) Return on Equity capital;
i) Operation and Maintenance Expenses;
j) Depreciation;
k) Interest and finance charges on Loan Capital;
I) Interest on Working Capital,
m) Interest on consumer security deposits;
n) Income Tax;
Less
0) Non-Tariff income;

p) Income from Other Business, to the extent specified in these Regulations;
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g) Receipts on account of Cross-Subsidy Surcharge;
r) Receipts on account of Additional Surcharge:

Provided that Depreciation, Interest on Loan Capital, Interest on Working Capital, Interest on consumer security
deposits, Contribution to Contingency Reserves, Return on Equity, and Income Tax for Retail Supply Business
shall be allowed in accordance with the provisions specified in Chapter 3 of these Regulations:

Provided further that prior period income/expenses shall be allowed by the Commission at the time of truing up
based on audited accounts, on a case-to-case basis, subject to prudence check:

Provided also that all penalties and compensation payable by the Licensee to any party for failure to meet any
Standards of Performance or for damages, as a consequence of the orders of the Commission, Courts, Consumer
Grievance Redressal Forum, and Ombudsman, etc. or penalty imposed by Commission on Licensee for non-
compliance with Renewable Purchase Obligations in accordance, as amended from time to time shall not be
allowed to be recovered through the Aggregate Revenue Requirement:

Provided also that the Distribution Licensee shall maintain separate details of such penalties and compensation
paid or payable by the Licensee, if any, and shall submit them to the Commission along with its Petition.

58.2 The tariff for retail supply by the Distribution Licensee shall be determined by the Commission on the basis of a
Petition for determination of tariff filed by the Distribution Licensee in accordance with Chapter 2 of these
Regulations:

Provided that the Aggregate Revenue Requirement of the Distribution Licensee shall be allocated or apportioned
between the Distribution Wires Business and Retail Supply Business in accordance with Table 1 in Regulation
49.1, till the accounts for Distribution Wires Business and Retail Supply Business are not separated:

Provided further that the tariff for retail supply may comprise of any combination of fixed/demand charges,
energy charges, and any other charges, for the purpose of recovery from the Consumers, as may be stipulated by
the Commission:

Provided also that the Commission may determine the area-wise tariff for Distribution Licensee based on the
performance parameters as may be stipulated by the Commission.

59. Power Procurement Planning

59.1 The Distribution Licensee shall prepare a plan for procurement of power (in MW/ MU) to serve the demand for
electricity in its area of supply and submit such plan to the Commission for approval in accordance with the
prevalent Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission for the UT of J&K and the UT of Ladakh (Power Purchase
and Procurement Process) Regulations 2023.

60. Power Purchase Quantum and Cost

60.1. The power purchase quantum and cost shall be calculated in accordance with the prevalent Joint Electricity
Regulatory Commission for the UT of Jammu & Kashmir and the UT of Ladakh Power Purchase and
Procurement Process Regulations 2023.

61. Fuel and Power Purchase Adjustment Surcharge (FPPAS)

61.1. The Fuel and power purchase adjustment surcharge (FPPAS) formula has been specified as provided in Section
62(4) of the Electricity Act 2003, for recovery/adjustment of increase or decrease in power purchase cost.

The Commission recognises that in order to update its billing system/ application software etc , the licensee need
time and implementation of monthly Fuel and Power Purchase Adjustment Surcharge at the outset shall create
problems in implementation of FPPAS . In view of this during the present control period, JKPCL/distribution
licensee shall submit the detailed calculation for FPPAS before the Commission on a quarterly basis as per the
procedure prescribed below:

Fuel and Power Purchase Adjustment Surcharge shall be computed by JKPCL/distribution licensee, in ( n+4)th

month, on the basis of actual variation in cost of fuel and power purchase for the power procured during the n,
(n+1)" & (n+2)" month as per the formula specified in Regulation 61.6 below. The FPPAS calculation for the
quarter consisting the n, (n+1) " & (n+2)™ month shall be submitted to the Commission during ( n+4)™" month,
and after approval of the Commission , the FPPAS for the quarter shall be passed on to the consumers through
adjustment in the tariff in suitable instalment as suggested by the Commission.

Provided that distribution licensees shall pay the Fuel and Power Purchase Adjustment Surcharge to JKPCL on
quarterly basis after approval of the Commission.
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61.2. Fuel and Power Purchase Adjustment Surcharge during the next control period starting from FY 2026-27 shall
be computed and charged by JKPCL/distribution licensee, in {n + 2} month, on the basis of actual variation, in
cost of fuel and power purchase for the power procured during the n'™ month. For example, the fuel and power
purchase adjustment surcharge on account of changes in tariff for power supplied during the month of April of
any financial year shall be computed and billed in the month of June of the same financial year:

Provided that the computation for FPPAS shall be done according to the formula specified by the Commission
and billed to consumers on a monthly basis automatically and JKPCL/distribution licensee must submit the
detailed calculation before the Commission on a quarterly basis for post-facto approval.

61.3. The distribution licensee shall submit all necessary details of the variation between expenses incurred and the
fuel and power purchase adjustment surcharge recovered, and the detailed computations and supporting
documents, as required by the Commission, during true up of the normal tariff.

61.4.To ensure smooth implementation of the fuel and power purchase adjustment surcharge mechanism and its
recovery, the distribution licensee shall ensure that the licensee billing system is updated to take this into account
and a unified billing system shall be implemented to ensure that there is a uniform billing system irrespective of
the billing and metering vendor through interoperability or use of open-source software as available.

61.5. The licensee shall publish all details including the fuel and power purchase adjustment surcharge formula,
calculation of monthly fuel and power purchase adjustment surcharge, and recovery of fuel and power purchase
adjustment surcharge (separately for automatic and approved portions) on its website and archive the same
through a dedicated web address.

61.6. Computation of Fuel and Power Purchase Adjustment Surcharge: The formula for Computation of Fuel and
Power Purchase Adjustment Surcharge (FPPAS) for nth month is as follows:

Monthly FPPAS for nth Month (%) = (A-B) *C= {Z*(1- Distribution losses in %+100)} * ABR
Where,

“nth” month means the month in which billing of fuel and power purchase adjustment surcharge component is
done. This fuel and power purchase adjustment surcharge is due to changes in tariff for the power supplied in
monn,

“A” is Total units procured in {n — 2™ Month (in kwh) from all Sources including Long-term, Medium —term
and Short-term Power purchases (To be taken from the bills issued to JKPCL);

“B” is bulk sale of power from all Sources in {n— 2} Month. (in kWh) = (to be taken from provisional
accounts to be issued by State Load Dispatch Centre by the 10th day of each month);

“C” is incremental Average Power Purchase Cost= Actual average Power Purchase Cost (PPC) from all Sources
in (n— 2)™ month (Rs./kWh) (computed) - Projected average Power Purchase Cost (PPC) from all Sources
(Rs./kwh)- (from tariff order);

“Z” = [{Actual Power purchased from all the sources outside the State in (n — 2)*® Month. (in kWh) * (1 —
Inter-state transmission losses in % /100) + Power purchased from all the sources within the State (in kWh)} *(1
— Intra-state losses in %/100) — B] in kWh

“ABR” = Average Billing Rate for the year (to be taken from the Tariff Order in Rs/kWh)
“Distribution Losses (in %)” = Target Distribution Losses (from Tariff Order)
“Inter-state transmission Losses (in %)” = As per Tariff Order
“Intra-state transmission Losses (in %0)” = As per Tariff Order
61.7. The Power Purchase Cost shall exclude any charges on account of Deviation Settlement Mechanism.

61.8.Other charges which include Ancillary Services and Security Constrained Economic Despatch shall not be
included in the Fuel and Power Purchase Adjustment Surcharge and adjusted though the true-up approved by the
Commission.

62. Transmission Charges

62.1 The Distribution Licensee shall be allowed to recover transmission charges payable for access to and use of the
intra-State transmission system in accordance with the tariff approved by the Commission under Chapter 5 of
these Regulations and the inter-state transmission system as per prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations.
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63. Operation and Maintenance (O&M) expenses for Retail Supply Business

63.1 The Operation and Maintenance Expenses for the Retail Supply Business shall be computed in accordance with
Regulation 52 of these Regulations.

64. SLDC and RLDC Fees & Charges

64.1 The Distribution Licensee shall be allowed to recover SLDC fees and charges payable to SLDC in accordance
with the fees and charges approved by the Commission. Further the distribution licensee shall be allowed to
recover RLDC fees.

65. Provision for bad and doubtful debts
65.1. The provision for bad and doubtful debts shall be dealt in accordance with Regulation 34 of these Regulations.
66. Norms of Working Capital for Retail Supply Business

66.1 The Working Capital for Retail Supply Business shall be determined in accordance with Regulation 58 of these
Regulations

67. Non-Tariff Income

67.1 The amount of Non-Tariff Income relating to the retail supply of electricity as approved by the Commission shall
be deducted from the Aggregate Revenue Requirement in calculating the tariff for retail supply of electricity by
the Distribution Licensee:

Provided that the Distribution Licensee shall submit full details of its forecast of Non-Tariff Income to the
Commission along with its application for determination of tariff.

67.2 The Non-Tariff Income shall inter-alia include:
a) Income from rent of land or buildings;
b) Income from sale of scrap;
¢) Income from statutory investments;
d) Interest on advances to suppliers/contractors;
e) Rental from staff quarters;
f) Rental from contractors;
g) Income from hire charges from contactors and others;
h) Income from advertisements, etc.;
i) Meter/metering equipment/service line rentals;
j)  Service charges;
k) Consumer charges;
1) Recovery for theft and pilferage of energy;
m) Rebate availed on account of timely payment of bills;
n) Miscellaneous receipts;
0) Deferred Income from grant, subsidy, etc., as per Annual Accounts;
p) Prior period income, etc.:

Provided that the interest/dividend earned from investments made out of Return on Equity corresponding to the
Retail Supply Business of the Distribution Licensee shall not be included in Non-Tariff Income:

Provided further that any income earned by a Distribution Licensee by sale of power to other Distribution
Licensees or to Consumers as per Section 49 of the Act using the existing power purchase agreements or bulk
supply capacity allocated to the Distribution Licensee's Area of Supply shall be reduced from the Aggregate
Revenue Requirement of the Distribution Licensee for the purpose of determination of tariff. Such reduction
shall be carried out in accordance with Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission for the UT of J&K and the UT
of Ladakh (Power Purchase and Procurement Process of Licensees) Regulations, as applicable.
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68. Receipts on account of Cross-Subsidy Surcharge and Additional Surcharge

68.1 The Cross-Subsidy Surcharge received by the Distribution Licensee in accordance with the prevalent Open
Access Regulations as amended from time to time, at the rate approved by the Commission shall be deducted
from the Aggregate Revenue Requirement, at the time of truing up.

68.2 The Additional surcharge received by the Distribution Licensee in accordance with the prevalent Open Access
Regulations as amended from time to time, at the rate approved by the Commission shall be deducted from the
Aggregate Revenue Requirement, at the time of truing up.

69. Distribution Losses

69.1. The Distribution Licensee shall recover the approved level of distribution losses arising from the Retail Supply
of electricity.

69.2. The Commission may stipulate a trajectory for distribution losses for the Control Period in accordance with these
Regulations, as part of the Multi Year Tariff Order.

69.3. Any variation between the actual level of distribution losses and the approved level shall be dealt with, as part of
the Truing up exercise in accordance with Regulation 18.

70. Determination of Tariff

70.1 The Commission may categorize Consumers on the basis of their load factor, power factor, voltage, total
consumption of electricity during any specified period or the time at which the supply is required or the
geographical position of any area, the nature of supply and the purpose for which the supply is required and any
other factor as considered appropriate by the Commission.

70.2 The Commission shall endeavor to determine cost of supply for each category/ sub-category of Consumers.

70.3 The Commission shall endeavor to reduce gradually the cross-subsidy between Consumer categories with respect
to the cost of supply in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

70.4 The tariff proposal by Licensee and the tariff determination by the Commission shall be based on the following
principles:

a) The tariff for all categories shall preferably be two parts, consisting of fixed and variable charges.
b) The fixed charges in tariff shall progressively reflect actual fixed cost incurred by Distribution Licensee;

¢) The overall retail supply tariff for different Consumer categories shall progressively reflect the cost of supply
for respective categories of Consumers;

d) The tariff for residential Consumers shall be set considering the affordability of tariff for various class of Consumers;
e) The tariff shall be set in such a manner that it may not present a tariff shock to any category of Consumers.
CHAPTER 8: MISCELLANEOUS
71. Saving of Inherent Power of the Commission

71.1 Nothing in these Regulations shall be deemed to limit or otherwise affect the inherent power of the Commission
to make such orders as may be necessary for ends of justice or to prevent the abuse of the process of the
Commission.

71.2 Nothing in these Regulations shall bar the Commission from adopting in conformity with the provisions of the
Act, a procedure, which is at variance with any of the provisions of these Regulations, if the Commission, in
view of the special circumstances of a matter or class of matters and for reasons to be recorded in writing, deems
it necessary or expedient for dealing with such a matter or class of matters.

71.3 Nothing in these Regulations shall, expressly or by implication, bar the Commission to deal with any matter or
exercise any power under the Act for which no Regulations have been framed, and the Commission may deal
with such matters, powers and functions in a manner it thinks fit.

72. lIssue of Orders and Practice Directions

72.1 Subject to the provision of the Act and these Regulations, the Commission may, from time to time, issue Orders
and Practice directions with regard to the implementation of these Regulations and procedure to be followed on
various matters.

73. Power to amend

73.1 The Commission may, at any time, vary, alter, modify or amend any provisions of these regulations following
the due process of Law.
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74. Power to remove difficulties

74.1 If any difficulty arises in giving effect to the provisions of these Regulations, the Commission may, by general or
specific order, make such provisions not inconsistent with the provisions of the Act, as may appear to be
necessary for removing the difficulty.

75. Power of Relaxation

75.1 The Commission, for reasons to be recorded in writing, may relax any of the provisions of these
Regulations on its own motion or on an application made before it by an interested person.

76. Interpretation

76.1 If a question arises relating to the interpretation of any provision of these Regulations, the decision of the
Commission shall be final.

77. Repeal

77.1The adopted Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission Goa and UTs (Generation, Transmission and
Distribution MYT) Regulations, 2018 shall stand repealed from the date of coming into force of
these Regulations and any reference to these Regulations in any of the Regulations, standards, codes

or procedures of the Joint Electricity Regulatory Commission shall be deemed to be replaced by the Joint
Electricity Regulatory Commission for the UT of J&K and the UT of Ladakh (Terms and Conditions for
Determination of Multi Year Generation, Transmission, Distribution Tariff) Regulations, 2023.

77.2 Notwithstanding such repeal, anything done or purported to have been done under the repealed Regulations so far
as it is not inconsistent with these Regulations shall be deemed to have been done or purported to have been done
under these Regulations.

77.3 These Regulations are in addition to and not in derogation of the other Regulations /Codes issued by the
Commission.

By Order of the Commission.
V. K.DHAR, (JKAS), Secy., JERC
[ADVT.-111/4/Exty./539/2023-24]

Appendix -1: Depreciation Schedule and Useful Life for assets
[Refer to Regulation 2.1 (54) and Regulation 30.7]
a) Generation and Transmission Assets

The Useful Life and depreciation rates for generation and transmission assets shall be as specified in the
prevalent CERC Tariff Regulations.

b) Distribution Assets

Sr. No. Asset Class Useful life (Years) Rate(%0)
1 Land owned under full title Infinity 0
2 Land held under lease

Period of lease or the period
(A) For investment in land remaining unexpired on the 0
assignment of the lease

Period of lease remaining
(B) For cost of clearing site unexpired at the date of clearing 0
the site

3 Assets purchased new

Buildings and civil engineering works of a permanent
character, not mentioned above:

(i) Offices and showrooms 50 1.80

(i) Temporary erection such as wooden structures 5 18.00
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Sr. No. Asset Class Useful life (Years) Rate(%0)
(iii) Roads other than kutcha roads 50 1.80
(iv) Others 50 1.80
B) Transfprmers, transformer (k.iosk) substation e_quipment &

other fixed apparatus (including plant foundations)
0 Por/ver Transformers (including foundations) having a o5 3.60
rating of 100 kilo volt amperes (kVA) and over
(ii) Others 25 3.60
© Switchgear, including cable connections 25 3.60
(D) Lightning arrestors:
(i) Station type 25 3.60
(ii) Pole type 15 6.00
(iii) Synchronous condenser 35 2.57
(E) Batteries 5 18.00
) Qnderground cable including joint boxes and 35 257
disconnected boxes
(G) Cable duct system 50 1.80
H) Overhead lines including supports:
0Q) hiigszrcr[r;] ;‘gb(sr(iicit\?d steel operating at nominal voltages 35 257
(ii) L_ines on steel supports operating _at nominal voltages o5 360
higher than 11 kV but not exceeding 66 kV
(iii) Lines on steel or reinforced concrete supports 25 3.60
(iv) Lines on treated wood supports 25 3.60
()] Meters
0] Electro Mechanical 15 6.00
(i) Electronic/ Smart Meters 10 9.0
) Self-propelled vehicles 5 18.00
(K) Air conditioning plants:
(i) | Static 15 6.00
(i) Portable 5 18.00
(L) Others
0] Office furniture equipment and fixtures 15 6.00
(i) Office equipment 15 6.00
(iii) Internal wirings including fittings and apparatus 15 6.00
(iv) Street Light fittings 15 6.00
(M) Apparatus let on hire:
(1 Other than motors 5 18.00
(i) Motors 15 6.00
(N) Communication equipment
(i) Radio and higher frequency carrier systems 15 6.00
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Sr. No. Asset Class Useful life (Years) Rate(%0)
(ii) Telephone lines and telephones 15 6.00
Such reasonable period as the
Commission determines in each
0) Assets purchased in second hand and assets not otherwise | case having regard to the nature,
provided for in the schedule age and conditions of assets at the
time of its acquisition by the
current owner
APPENDIX-II: METHODOLOGY FOR COMPUTATION OF AT&C LOSS
[Refer to Regulation 12.2 (c)]
NAME OF UNION TERRITORY
Name of Distribution Licensee
Sr. No. Particulars Calculation Unit
A Input Energy (MkWh) Energy Generated - Auxiliary Consumption + Energy
Purchased(Gross)* — Energy Traded/ Inter State Sales.
Transmission Losses (MkWh)
Net Input Energy (MkWh) A-B
D Energy Sold(MkWh) Energy Sold to all categories of consumers excluding units
of EnergyTraded/Inter-State Sales.
Revenue from Sale of Energy (Rs. | Revenue from Sale of Energy to all categories of
E Cr.) consumers (including Subsidy Booked) but excluding
Revenuefrom Energy Traded /Inter-State Sales.
Adjusted Revenue from Sale of Revenue from Sale of Energy (same as E above) minus
F Energy on Subsidy Received Subsidy Booked plus Subsidy Received against subsidy
basis (Rs. Cr.) booked during the year
Opening Debtors for Sale of Opening debtors for sale of Energy as shown in
G Energy (Rs. Cr.) Receivable Schedule (Without deducting provisions for
doubtful debtors). Unbilled Revenue shall not be
considered as Debtors.
Closing Debtors for Sale of i) Closing debtors for Sale of Energy as shown in
Energy (Rs. Cr.) Receivable Schedule (Without deducting provisions for
doubtful debts). Unbilled Revenue shall not be considered
H as Debtors.
i) Any amount written off during the year directly
from(i)
| Adjusted Closing Debtors for sale H(i+ii)
of Energy (Rs. Cr.)
J Collection Efficiency (%) (F+G-1)/E*100
Units Realized (MkWh) = D*J/100
K [Energy Sold * Collection
Efficiency]
Units Unrealized (MkWh) = C-K
L [Net Input Energy — Units
Realized]
AT&C Losses (%) = [{Units L/C *100
M Unrealized/Net Input

Energy}*100]
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Note:
i)  *DISCOMs are required to give gross energy purchased i.e., Total Power Purchased including transmission losses.

ii) Debtors for trading of power have not been adjusted for calculation of collection efficiency since information is
generally not available in notes to accounts.

iii) Figures in above table, wherever available, should be consistent with the information contained in Annual Report/
Accounts.

iv) Calculation of AT&C losses in the format given in Table above should form a part of annual accounts of all utilities
selling directly to consumers as notes to accounts or annexure.

v) Details of subsidy booked during the year and subsidy received against current year and against previous years as
given in Table below should form part of annual accounts as notes to accounts or annexure

Details of Subsidy Booked and received Amount (Rs. Crs)

Subsidy Booked during the year (Rs. Cr.)

Subsidy received during the year (Rs. Cr.)

i.  Subsidy received against subsidy booked for current year (Rs. Cr.)

ii.  Subsidy received against subsidy booked for previous years (Rs. Cr.

Appendix — I11: Guidelines for determination of Normative Plant Availability Factor (NAPAF) of various
Hydro Generating Stations

[Refer to Regulation 40.1]

(1) Normative Annual Plant Availability Factor (NAPAF) of various Hydro Generating Stations shall be determined
based on following criteria /guidelines:

a) Storage and pondage type plants with head variation between Full Reservoir Level (FRL) and Minimum Draw
Down Level (MDDL) of up to 8% and where plant availability is not affected by silt: 90%

b) In case of Storage and pondage type plants with head variation between Full Reservoir Level and Minimum
Draw Down Level of more than 8% and where plant availability is not affected by silt, the month wise peaking
capability as provided by the project authorities in the DPR (approved by CEA or the State Govt.), shall form
basis of fixation of NAPAF.

This has been explained with the following example,

Installed capacity: 4x250 MW (say)

Month Expected Avg. of Daily 3 hour Peaking Capacity
April 701
May 448
June 133
July 497
August 544
September 990
October 1000
November 1000
December 1000
January 1000
February 1000
March 693




[9TT HH—=vE 4] T T TSI © T 85

d)

e)

Weighted average of expected daily peaking capability = 790 MW

Peaking capacity is based on the assumption that one unit shall be under annual maintenance during month of
May, July, February and March.

Considering 2% allowance on plant capacity on account of forced outages during the year, expected average peaking
capacity= 770 MW.

Thus, NAPAF = 770/1000 = 77%.

Pondage type plants where plant availability is significantly affected by silt, a margin of 5% has been allowed and
NAPAF shall be 85%.

In case of purely Run-of-river type plants, NAPAF shall be determined plant wise, based on its 90% dependable 10-
daily inflows pattern as approved in the DPR of the project.

A further allowance may be made by the Commission while determining the NAPAF under special circumstances i.e.
abnormal silt problem or other operating conditions and known plant limitations.

When head variation between FRL and MDDL is more than 8%, following multiplying factors shall be applied:
Multiplying factor for head variation = (Head at MDDL/Rated Head) x 0.5+0.52

APPENDIX -1V: THRESHOLD LIMIT FOR INTRA-STATE TRANSMISSION SYSTEM TO BE
DEVELOPED THROUGH TARIFF BASED COMPETITIVE BIDDING (TBCB)

[Refer to Second Proviso of Regulation 42.1]

The Commission through a separate notification on ‘Determination of Threshold Limit for development of Intra-
State Transmission System through Tariff Based Competitive Bidding’ shall determine the threshold limit for
development of all Intra-State Transmission System (new and augmentation) projects. The projects costing
above threshold limit through would be executed under the Section 63 of the Act under Tariff Based Competitive
Bidding in accordance with the competitive bidding guidelines notified by the Central Government from time to
time.

This threshold limit shall be applicable for all new Intra-State Transmission System (Projects) for which
approval is yet to be accorded by the Commission.

The entire Intra-State independent transmission upstream/downstream project shall be designed as single project
for inviting bids for development of project through Tariff Based Competitive Bidding.

In case the Administration of UT of Jammu & Kashmir and UT of Ladakh/STU intends to develop any Intra-
State Transmission System above the threshold limit through cost plus approach due to some specific reasons,
such as project is of critical nature or the Project may lead to ownership or interface issues, the Administrative
Body/STU shall obtain prior approval of the Commission.

Uploaded by Dte. of Printing at Government of India Press, Ring Road, Mayapuri, New Delhi-110064
and Published by the Controller of Publications, Delhi-110054. RAVINDE Dty signed by

RAVINDER KUMAR

Date: 2023.11.14
RKUMAR 5030530



